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EASTERN HEALTH AUTHORITY AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Minutes of the Audit Committee meeting held at the EHA’s offices at 101 Payneham Road, St 

Peters on 15 May 2024 commencing at 5:00 pm. 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Madeleine Harding   Presiding Member (Independent) 

Natalie Caon     Independent Member 

Cr Peter Cornish   City of Burnside 

 

In attendance:  

M Livori    Chief Executive Officer 

K Paparella    Team Leader Administration and Immunisation  

 

 

1 OPENING 

 

The meeting was declared open by the Presiding Member at 5:03pm. 

 

2 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS OF TRADITIONAL OWNERS: 

 

We acknowledge this land that we meet on today is the traditional land of the 

Kaurna People and that we respect their spiritual relationship with their country. 

 

3 OPENING STATEMENT: 

 

We seek understanding and guidance in our debate, as we make decisions for the 

management of the Eastern Heath Authority, that will impact the public health on 

those that reside, study, work in and visit the constituent councils that the Eastern 

Health Authority Charter provides services to. 

 

 

4 Apologies 

 

 

5 Confirmation of Minutes 

 

Cr Peter Cornish moved: 

That: 
 

The minutes of the previous Audit Committee meeting be taken as read and 

confirmed. 

Seconded by Natalie Caon 

  CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 1: 052024 
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6 MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES: 

 

 

 

 

7 ADMINISTRATION REPORTS 

 

7.1  Appointment of External Auditor for 2024-2026 

 
Cr Peter Cornish moved:  

That: 
 
1. The Appointment of External Auditor for 2024-2026 report is received. 

 
Seconded by Natalie Caon 

  CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 2: 052024 

 
 7.2 Eastern Health Authority Charter Review Update 
 

Natalie Caon moved:  

 
That: 
 

1. The Eastern Health Authority Charter Review Update Report is received.  
 

Seconded by: Cr Peter Cornish   

 CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 3: 052024 

 

7.3  Finance Report and Second (December 2023) Budget Review for 2023/2024 

 
Natalie Caon moved:  

That: 
 

1. The Finance Report and Second (December 2023) Budget Review Report 
for 2023/2024 be received. 

 
Seconded by: Cr Peter Cornish 

  CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 4: 052024 
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 7.4 Draft Annual Business Plan and Budgeted Financial Statements For 2024/2025 
 

Cr Peter Cornish moved:  

 
That: 
 

The Draft Annual Business Plan and Budgeted Financial Statements for 
2024/2025 Report is received. 

 

Seconded by: Natalie Caon  

  CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 5: 052024 

 

7.5  Finance Report and Third and Final (March 2024) Budget Review For 

2023/2024 

 
Cr Peter Cornish moved:  

That: 
 

The Finance Report and Third and Final (March 2024) Budget Review for 

2023/2024 Report be received. 

 
Seconded by: Natalie Caon  

  CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 6: 052024 

 
 

 7.6 Long-Term Financial Plan Financial Estimates 
 

Cr Peter Cornish moved:  

 
That: 
 
1. The Long-Term Financial Plan Financial Estimates report is received. 

 
2. The Long-Term Financial Plan Revised Financial Estimates report as amended 

is provided to the Board of Management for adoption, noting that indexation 
projections within the report have been updated to align with the 2024/25 
draft Annual Business Plan and publicly available independent sources (where 
appropriate). 
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3. The Audit Committee notes that some classes of expenditure will only be 
applicable in the short term, rather than over the full 10-year plan. 

 

Seconded by: Natalie Caon  

  CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 6: 052024 

7.7 Risk Management Policy 

Cr Peter Cornish moved:  

 

 That: 

1. The report regarding the Risk Management Policy is received. 
 

2. The Risk Management Policy is endorsed and presented to the Board of Management 
for adoption. 

 

  Seconded by: Natalie Caon  

 

 CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 7: 052024 

 

7.8 Risk Management – Updated Corporate Risk Summary 

 Cr Peter Cornish moved: 

 That: 

1. The Risk Management – Updated Corporate Risk Summary Report is received. 
 

2. The Corporate Risk Summary marked as attachment 1 as amended is endorsed. 
 

  Seconded by: Natalie Caon  

 CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 8: 052024 
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9 OTHER BUSINESS 
 
 
10 CLOSURE OF MEETING 
 

 

Presiding member, Madeleine Harding, declared the meeting closed at 7:08pm.  
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7.1 DRAFT GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 

Author: Michael Livori 
Ref: AF24/39 

Summary 

This report presents the draft General Purpose Financial Statements for the year ended 30 
June 2024 (the statements) for review by the Audit Committee (the Committee). 

Eastern Health Authority’s (EHA) Charter requires its books of accounts and financial 
statements to be audited annually by an external auditor. The audited financial statements 
must be provided to Constituent Councils to allow them to be incorporated into their own 
audited financial statements. The audited financial statements are then required to be 
incorporated into the EHA Annual Report.  

The Terms of Reference for the Committee include at section 10.1.1 an expectation that 
the Committee monitors the integrity of the financial statements of EHA, including its 
annual report, reviewing significant reporting issues and judgements which they contain. 

Report 

The General-Purpose Financial Reports for the year ending 30 June 2024 (provided as 
attachment 1) have been prepared in accordance with the Local Government (Financial 
Management) Regulations 2011, Australian Accounting Standards, and the South 
Australian Model Financial Statements for 2024. They reflect the operations of EHA 
between the period 1 July 2023 and 30 June 2024. 

There are four principal statements which are accompanied by notes which form part of 
the financial report: 

 Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 Statement of Financial Position 

 Statement of Changes in Equity 

 Statement of Cash Flows 

As detailed in the reports, EHA is reporting an operating surplus of $122,120 for 2023-2024 
compared to operating surplus of $25,383 in 2022-2023.  

The external auditors conducted a remote balance date audit and final audit through July 
and August 2024. The 2024 statements presented as part of this report are based on the 
draft provided to the external auditors. Some minor amendments may be required to be 
made prior to the meeting date and the results will continue to be refined until final audit 
sign-off. Any significant disclosure or presentation issues identified by the external 
auditors will be presented as an update at this committee meeting by John Jovicevic from 
Dean Newberry who will be in attendance.  

A copy of the Audit Completion report has been received and is provided as attachment 3.  
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The auditors intend to issue an unmodified audit opinion over the financial report of 
Eastern Health Authority. 

The Auditor raised the following three matters. 

1 Recognise disposal of Plant and Equipment Asset 

Observation 

Audit testing identified that an asset was acquired during the financial year which was a 
replacement for an existing asset which was found to have not been disposed.  

Outcome 

A correction entry has been recorded to recognise disposal of the asset. 

Management Response 

As discussed with the auditor a complete audit of the 2023 2024 Asset Register was 
undertaken through January – April 2024. Management identified that the replacement 
item, ElectraSol Backup UPS 2 for the vaccine fridges was recorded on the Fixed Asset 
Register disposals tab, however the journal was consequently missed. EHA Management 
have reviewed the accounting, and the correct journal was posted.  

2  Reallocation of Workers Compensation Refund 

Observation 

It was identified that the refund payment received from Local Government Workers 
Compensation Scheme relating to overpayment of insurance premiums paid in FY23 was 
incorrectly recognised on the Statement of Financial Position. 

Outcome 

A correction was recorded to recognise the refund payment within the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Management Response 

A correction was recorded to recognise the Workers Compensation adjustment of the 
Balance Sheet and recognise it in the Profit and Loss statement. 

3  Opening Balances – FY23 Comparative Data 

Observation 

A review was undertaken of the FY23 Trial Balance within MYOB compared to the FY23 
audited financial statement, additionally the review of working papers relating to FY23 
comparative data to confirm accuracy and completeness of comparative data was also 
audited.  

Page 12
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Outcome 

It was identified a variance of $27K between MYOB balance and audited financial 
statements in FY23. The variance related to FY23 audit adjustments not being completed 
in the correct accounting period.  

Management Response 

These are timing adjustments in last year's financials which were not processed to the 
MYOB file. Once the audit is finalised a check needs to be made that any audit adjustments 
have been made to the MYOB file. The MYOB file then needs to be locked to ensure 
transactions in the current year cannot be posted back to the prior year. 

The Auditor raised the following two matters to be addressed in Future Financial Years. 

1 New Lease Agreement for Office Facilities 

Observation 

The Authority will need to perform a recalculation of the Right-of-Use Asset and the Lease 
Liability for the new Building Lease when this is executed as expected within FY25. 

Audit Recommendation  

The Authority will need to perform a recalculation of the Right-of-Use Asset and the Lease 
Liability for the new Building Lease when this is executed as expected within FY25. 

Management Response 

As discussed with the auditor a letter provided from the City of Norwood Payneham & St 
Peters provides a summary of the current Lease arrangements with Eastern Health 
Authority. Due to delays in the finalising of the lease, EHA remains on a hold over 
arrangement. When the new lease is finalised, a recalculation of Right-of-Use Asset and 
the Lease Liability will occur.  

2  Annual Budget and Budget Reviews  

Observation 

Review of FY24 Annual Budget and subsequent budget reviews reports identified that the 
Authority didn’t prepare or adopt the Uniform Presentation of Finances statement as 
required under section 9 of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 
2011. 

Audit Recommendation  

Recommend the Authority ensure it addresses this requirement in future periods and that 
the appropriate reporting templates are updated to include this required statement. 
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Management Response 

The Uniform Presentation of Finances is a reporting requirement for Councils to highlight 
what they are spending on asset renewal versus new assets. Due to its nature and 
operations this is not a relevant consideration for EHA.  

EHA’s Funding Statement 2023/2024 provides detailed information in relation to 
individual budget line performance. The Funding Statement provides information in 
relation to all operating expenses, including rent and vehicle leases. Rent and vehicle 
leases account for 25% of materials, contracts and other expenses.   

Accounting entries for leases are not included in the Funding Statement. The accounting 
adjustments required by the accounting standards relating to leases are made at year end. 

The Funding Statement is effectively a Uniform Presentation of Finances that is more 
relevant to EHA and gives members greater transparency in relation to all operational 
expenditure. It is managements recommendation that the current process which provides 
members with greater clarity in relation to operational expenditure is continued. 

Differences when comparing 2023 and 2024 Financial Statements 

A full comparison of the 2023 and 2024 audited financial results is provided as 
attachment 2. Commentary in relation to material differences (where applicable) is 
provided in the table below. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

2023/2024 2022/2023 Variation Commentary 

Income

Statutory Charges 152,387 136,026 16,361 Increase in Food 
Inspection Income 

User Charges 414,731 457,619 (42,888) End of immunisation 
contract with 
Adelaide Hills Council 

Grants and subsidies 249,436 230,170 19,266 SIP Programme 
additional income 

Investment income 37,380 15,866 21,514 Increased vestment 
income 

Expenses 

Employee Costs 1,847,846 1,881,592 (33,746) Periodic staff 
vacancies 

Material, contracts and 
other expenses 

636,970 571,267 65,703 Insurance, 
maintenance, 
electricity and 
vaccine increased 
costs. 

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 122,120 25,383 102,024 
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Statement of Financial Position 

2023/2024 2022/2023 Variation Commentary

Total Current Assets 1,142,790 916,670 240,120 Increase in cash at 
hand. 

Total Non-Current Assets 999,746 1,104,793 (105,047) Decrease due to 
application of AAASB 
Standard 16 Leases – 
value of leased 
assets – see note 6 

Total Current Liabilities 628,223 518,864 95,773 Increase in Trade and 
other payables 

Total Non-Current 
Liabilities 

815,240 925,646 (96,820) Reduction in 
borrowings 

Total Liabilities 1,443,463 1,444,510 (1,047) 

Net Assets 699,073 576,953 122,120 Income Statement 
result 

Statement of Cash Flows 

2023/2024 2022/2023 Variation Commentary 

Net Cash Provided / (used) 
by Operating Activities 

457,376 162,637 294,739 See Note 8 

Net Cash Provided / (used) 
by Financing Activities 

(133,122) (109,194) (23,928) See Note 8 

Net Cash Provided / (used) 
by Investing Activities 

(14,141) (49,557) 35,416 See Note 8 

Net Increase (Decrease) in 
cash held 

310,113 3,886 306,227 See Note 8 

Cash and cash equivalents 
at end of period 

954,882 644,769 310,113 See Note 8 

Statement of Changes in Equity 

2023/2024 2022/2023 Variation Commentary

Accumulated Surplus 
Balance at end of Period 

699,073 576,953 122,120 Income Statement 
result 

Total Equity 
Balance at end of Period 

699,073 576,953 122,120 Income Statement 
result 

RECOMMENDATION 

That: 

1. The Draft General Purpose Financial Statements for the Year ending 30 June 2024 
Report is noted. 

2. The Committee is satisfied that the 2023/2024 draft statements present fairly the 
state of affairs of the organisation. 
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3. The 2023/2024 final audited statements are presented to the Board of 
Management. 

4. The Presiding Member of the Audit Committee is authorised to sign a statement 
to certify the independence of the external auditors. 
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EASTERN HEALTH AUTHORITY 
 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 

 
 

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 

 
We have been authorised by Eastern Health Authority (EHA) to certify the financial 
statements in their final form.  In our opinion: 
 
 the accompanying financial statements comply with the Local Government Act 1999, 

Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 and Australian 
Accounting Standards.  

 
 the financial statements present a true and fair view of EHA’s financial position at 30 

June 2024 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
 internal controls implemented by EHA provide a reasonable assurance that the 

Council’s financial records are complete, accurate and reliable and were effective 
throughout the financial year. 

  
 the financial statements accurately reflect EHA’s accounting and other records. 
 
 

 
……………………………………. 

Michael Livori 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

……………………………………. 
Cr Peter Cornish 
CHAIRPERSON 

EHA BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: 
 
 
 

Item 7.1 Attachment 1
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2024 2023
Notes $ $

INCOME
Council contributions 2     1,970,200     1,828,000 
Statutory charges 2        152,387        136,026 
User charges 2        414,731        457,619 
Grants, subsidies and contributions - Operating 2        249,436        230,170 
Investment income 2           37,380           15,866 
Other income 2 913             7,255 
Total Income     2,825,047     2,674,936 

EXPENSES
Employee costs 3     1,847,846     1,881,592 
Materials, contracts & other expenses 3        636,970        571,267 
Depreciation, amortisation & impairment 3        175,901        159,013 
Finance costs 3           36,923           37,681 
Total Expenses     2,697,640     2,649,553 

OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)        127,407           25,383 

Asset disposal & fair value adjustments 4           (5,287) - 
NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) 
transferred to Equity Statement        122,120           25,383 

Other Comprehensive Income
Total Other Comprehensive Income -                     - 
TOTAL  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME        122,120           25,383 

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

Eastern Health Authority
Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 30 June 2024

Item 7.1 Attachment 1
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2024 2023
ASSETS Notes $ $
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5        954,882        644,769 
Trade & other receivables 5        187,908        271,901 

Total Current Assets     1,142,790        916,670 

Non-current Assets
Property, plant & equipment 6        999,746     1,104,793 

Total Non-current Assets        999,746     1,104,793 
Total Assets     2,142,536     2,021,463 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Trade & other payables 7        198,870        121,916 
Borrowings 7        139,565        111,865 
Provisions 7        289,788        285,083 

Total Current Liabilities        628,223        518,864 

Non-current Liabilities
Borrowings 7        782,210        881,032 
Provisions 7           33,030           44,614 

Total Non-current Liabilities        815,240        925,646 
Total Liabilities     1,443,463     1,444,510 
NET ASSETS        699,073        576,953 

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus        699,073        576,953 
TOTAL EQUITY        699,073        576,953 

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

Eastern Health Authority
Statement of Financial Position

as at 30 June 2024

Item 7.1 Attachment 1
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Acc'd
Surplus

Asset Rev'n 
Reserve

Other 
Reserves

TOTAL 
EQUITY

2024 Notes $ $ $ $
Balance at end of previous reporting period          576,953                       -                       -          576,953 
Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year          122,120 - -          122,120 
Balance at end of period          699,073                       -                       -          699,073 

Acc'd
Surplus

Asset Rev'n 
Reserve

Other 
Reserves

TOTAL 
EQUITY

2023 Notes $ $ $ $
Balance at end of previous reporting period          551,570                       -                       -          551,570 
Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year             25,383 - -             25,383 
Balance at end of period          576,953                       -                       -          576,953 
This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes

Eastern Health Authority
Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Item 7.1 Attachment 1
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2024 2023
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES Notes $ $
Receipts:
Council Contributions 1,970,200    1,828,000    
Fees & other charges 152,387       136,026       
User charges 498,191       418,158       
Investment receipts 35,775         14,506         
Grants utilised for operating purposes 249,436       230,170       
Other revenues 913              7,633           
Payments:
Employee costs (1,821,964)   (1,847,155)   
Materials, contracts & other expenses (590,639)      (586,184)      
Finance payments (36,923)        (38,517)        
Net Cash provided by (or used in) Operating Activities 8 457,376       162,637       

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments:
Expenditure on renewal/replacement of assets -                   (49,557)        
Expenditure on new/upgraded assets (14,141)        
Net Cash provided by (or used in) Investing Activities (14,141)        (49,557)        

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments:
   Repayments of borrowings -                   (38,391)        
   Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities (133,122)      (70,803)        

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Financing Activities (133,122)      (109,194)      

Net Increase (Decrease) in cash held 310,113       3,886           

Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of period 8 644,769       640,883       
Cash & cash equivalents at end of period 8 954,882       644,769       

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes

Eastern Health Authority
Statement of Cash Flows

for the year ended 30 June 2024

Item 7.1 Attachment 1
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Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 1 - Material Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below.  These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

1      Basis of Preparation

1.1   Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards
This general purpose financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis using the historical cost 
convention in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards as they apply to not-for-profit entities, other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Interpretations and relevant South 
Australian legislation.
The financial report was authorised for issue by certificate under regulation 14 of the Local Government (Financial 
Management) Regulations 2011.

1.2   Historical Cost Convention
Except as stated below, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention.
1.3   Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates and requires management to exercise its judgement in applying Eastern Health 
Authority's (EHA) accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are material to the financial statements are specifically referred to in the relevant 
sections of these Notes.
1.4   Rounding

All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest  dollar.

2      The Local Government Reporting Entity

EHA is incorporated under the SA Local Government Act 1999 and has its principal place of business at 101 
Payneham Rd, St Peters SA.  These consolidated financial statements include the EHA’s direct operations and all 
entities through which EHA controls resources to carry on its functions. In the process of reporting on the EHA as a 
single unit, all transactions and balances between activity areas and controlled entities have been eliminated.

3      Income recognition

3.1   Revenue

The EHA recognises revenue under AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 1058) or AASB 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers (AASB 15) when appropriate. 

In cases where there is an ‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently specific’ performance obligations, 
the transaction is accounted for under AASB 15 where income is recognised when (or as) the performance 
obligations are satisfied (i.e. when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer). Revenue is measured 
based on the consideration to which the EHA expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer. 

In other cases, AASB 1058 applies when EHA enters into transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is 
materially less than the fair value of the asset principally to enable the entity to further its objectives. The excess of 
the asset recognised (at fair value) over any ‘related amounts’ is recognised as income immediately, except in the 
case where a financial asset has been received to enable the EHA to acquire or construct a recognisable non-
financial asset that is to be controlled by the EHA. In this case, the EHA recognises the excess as a liability that is 
recognised over time in profit and loss when (or as) the entity satisfies its obligations under the transfer.

Item 7.1 Attachment 1
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Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 1 - Material Accounting Policies

4      Cash, Cash Equivalents and Other Financial Instruments
4.1   Cash, Cash Equivalent Assets

Cash assets include all amounts readily convertible to cash on hand at EHA’s option with an immaterial risk of 
changes in value with a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

4.2   Other Financial Instruments

All receivables are reviewed as at the reporting date and adequate allowance made for amounts the receipt of which 
is considered doubtful.

All financial instruments are recognised at fair value at the date of recognition, except for trade receivables from a 
contract with a customer, which are measured at the transaction price.  A detailed statement of the accounting 
policies applied to financial instruments also form part of Note 9.

5      Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment

5.1   Initial Recognition

All assets are initially recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, cost is 
determined as fair value at the date of acquisition.

All non-current assets purchased or constructed are capitalised as the expenditure is incurred and depreciated as 
soon as the asset is held “ready for use”. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as consideration 
plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including architects' fees and engineering design fees and all other costs 
incurred. The cost of non-current assets constructed by the EHA includes the cost of all materials used in 
construction, direct labour on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead.

5.2   Materiality

Assets with an economic life in excess of one year are only capitalised where the cost of acquisition exceeds 
materiality thresholds established by EHA for each type of asset.  In determining (and in annually reviewing) such 
thresholds, regard is had to the nature of the asset and its estimated service life.  No capitalisation threshold is 
applied to the acquisition of land or interests in land.

5.3   Subsequent Recognition

All material asset classes are revalued on a regular basis such that the carrying values are not materially different 
from fair value. Material uncertainties exist in the estimation of fair value of a number of asset classes including land, 
buildings and associated structures and infrastructure. 

5.4   Depreciation of Non-Current Assets 

Other than land, all infrastructure, property, plant and equipment assets recognised are systematically depreciated 
over their useful lives on a straight-line basis which, in the opinion of EHA, best reflects the consumption of the 
service potential embodied in those assets.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values of classes of assets are reviewed annually.

5.5   Impairment

Assets whose future economic benefits are not dependent on the ability to generate cash flows, and where the future 
economic benefits would be replaced if EHA were deprived thereof, are not subject to impairment testing.

Other assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount (which is the higher of the present 
value of future cash inflows or value in use).
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Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 1 - Material Accounting Policies

Where an asset that has been revalued is subsequently impaired, the impairment is first offset against such amount 
as stands to the credit of that class of assets in Asset Revaluation Reserve, any excess being recognised as an 
expense.
5.6   Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs in relation to qualifying assets (net of offsetting investment revenue) have been capitalised in 
accordance with AASB 123 “Borrowing Costs”.  The amounts of borrowing costs recognised as an expense or as 
part of the carrying amount of qualifying assets are disclosed in Note 3, and the amount (if any) of interest revenue 
offset against borrowing costs in Note 2.
6      Payables

6.1   Goods & Services
Creditors are amounts due to external parties for the supply of goods and services and are recognised as liabilities 
when the goods and services are received.  Creditors are normally paid 30 days after the month of invoice.  No 
interest is payable on these amounts.
6.2   Payments Received in Advance & Deposits

Amounts (other than grants) received from external parties in advance of service delivery, and security deposits held 
against possible damage to EHA assets, are recognised as liabilities until the service is delivered or damage 
reinstated, or the amount is refunded as the case may be.

7      Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value net of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are carried at their principal amounts which represent the present value of future cash flows associated 
with servicing the debt.  Interest is accrued over the period to which it relates and is recorded as part of “Payables”.  
Interest free loans are initially recognised at fair value with any difference between fair value and proceeds 
recognised in the profit and loss. The loan is subsequently measured at amortised cost with interest being 
recognised using the effective interest rate method. 
8      Provisions

8.1   Employee Benefits
Liabilities for employees’ entitlements to salaries, wages and compensated absences expected to be paid or settled 
within 12 months of reporting date are accrued at nominal amounts (including payroll based on costs) measured in 
accordance with AASB 119. 
Liabilities for employee benefits not expected to be paid or settled within 12 months are measured as the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflows (including payroll based on-costs) to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date.  Present values are calculated using government guaranteed 
securities rates with similar maturity terms.

No accrual is made for sick leave as EHA experience indicates that, on average, sick leave taken in each reporting 
period is less than the entitlement accruing in that period, and this experience is expected to recur in future reporting 
periods.  EHA does not make payment for untaken sick leave.

Superannuation:

The EHA makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Hostplus Superannuation 
Scheme. The Scheme has two types of membership, each of which is funded differently. Details of the accounting 
policies applied and EHA’s involvement with the schemes are reported in Note 12.

9      Leases

The EHA assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 1 - Material Accounting Policies

EHA as a lessee

The EHA recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use 
the underlying assets.

i) Right-of-use assets
The EHA recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease. Right-of-use assets are measured 
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs 
incurred, lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received and the 
estimate of costs to be incurred to restore the leased asset. 
Right of use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated 
useful lives of the assets.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section 6.5 - Impairment of 
non-financial assets above.

ii) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the EHA recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the EHA uses its 
incremental borrowing rate or the interest rate implicit in the lease.

10      Goods & Services Tax

In accordance with interpretation of Abstract 1031 “Accounting for the Goods & Services Tax”

•         Receivables and Creditors include GST receivable and payable.
•         Except in relation to input taxed activities, revenues and operating expenditures exclude GST receivable and 
payable.
•         Non-current assets and capital expenditures include GST net of any recoupment.

•         Amounts included in the Statement of Cash Flows are disclosed on a gross basis.

11      New and amended standards and interpretations

The EHA applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023. New standards and amendments relevant to the EHA are listed below. The 
EHA has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet 
effective.
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2024 2023
Notes  $  $ 

COUNCIL CONTRIBUTIONS
City of Burnside 549,526       494,233       
Cambelltown City Council 485,862       453,186       
City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters 623,600       584,210       
City of Prospect 222,106       214,740       
Town of Walkerville 89,106         81,631         

1,970,200    1,828,000    
STATUTORY  CHARGES

Inspection Fees: Food 122,913       107,990       
Inspection Fees: Legionella 7,892           10,027         
SRF Licences 1,587           1,630           
Fines & Expiation Fees 19,995         16,379         

152,387       136,026       
USER  CHARGES

Immunisation: Clinic Vaccines 92,513         86,207         
Immunisation: Service Provision 121,000       152,625       
Immunisation: Worksite Vaccines 78,336         96,177         
Immunisation: Clinic Service Fee 2,775           1,640           
Food Auditing 120,107       120,970       

414,731       457,619       
INVESTMENT  INCOME

Interest on investments:
Local Government Finance Authority 37,380         15,866         

37,380         15,866         
OTHER INCOME

Motor Vehicle Reimbursements 364              4,357           
Sundry 549              2,898           

913              7,255           
GRANTS, SUBSIDIES, CONTRIBUTIONS

Other grants, subsidies and contributions - Operating
Immunisation: School Programme 228,138       209,229       
Immunisation: AIR 21,298         18,941         
Immunisation: PHN Project -                   2,000           

Total Grants all sources 249,436       230,170       

Sources of grants
Other 249,436       230,170       

249,436       230,170       

Eastern Health Authority

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 2 - INCOME

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
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2024 2023
Notes $ $

EMPLOYEE COSTS
Salaries and Wages 1,620,120    1,580,063    
Employee leave expense 23,783         54,041         
Superannuation - defined contribution plan contributions 12 158,379       172,557       
Superannuation - defined benefit plan contributions 12 19,884         20,103         
Workers' Compensation Insurance 23,646         20,160         
Other - Agency Staff and Consultant Medical Officer 2,034           34,668         
Total Operating Employee Costs 1,847,846    1,881,592    

Total Number of Employees 18                18                
          (Full time equivalent at end of reporting period)

MATERIALS, CONTRACTS & OTHER EXPENSES
Prescribed Expenses
Auditor's Remuneration
     -  Auditing the financial reports 9,500           8,800           
Bad and Doubtful Debts 6,939           -                   
Goverance expenses 10,574         16,038         
Lease Expenses - short term leases 11 15,736         26,942         
Subtotal - Prescribed Expenses 42,749         51,780         

Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses
Accounting 4,658           3,775           
Contractors 31,352         28,290         
Energy 18,327         7,182           
Fringe benefits tax 14,480         14,480         
Human resources 27,159         8,794           
Income protection 29,536         31,047         
Insurance 56,586         39,010         
IT licensing and support 145,357       151,411       
Legal Expenses 6,061           14,321         
Motor vehicle expenses 19,564         25,465         
Parts, accessories & consumables 136,213       105,347       
Printing and stationary 20,071         24,387         
Staff training 26,528         20,974         
Sundry 36,984         22,759         
Telephone 15,947         16,248         
Work health & safety consultancy 5,398           5,997           
Subtotal - Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses 594,221       519,487       

636,970       571,267       

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 3 - EXPENSE
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2024 2023

Notes $ $

DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION & IMPAIRMENT
Depreciation
Buildings & Other Structures 23,642         27,394         
Office Equipment, Furniture & Fittings 11,337         3,752           
Right of use assets 11 140,922       127,867       

175,901       159,013       

FINANCE  COSTS
Interest on Loans -                   (836)             
Interest on Leases 36,923         38,517         

36,923         37,681         

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 3 - EXPENSE con't
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Eastern Health Authority

for the year ended 30 June 2024

2024 2023
Notes $ $

INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY,  PLANT & EQUIPMENT
Assets renewed or directly replaced
Proceeds from disposal -                   -                   
Less: Carrying amount of assets sold (5,287)          -                   
Gain (Loss) on disposal (5,287)          -                   

NET GAIN (LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OR REVALUATION 
OF ASSETS           (5,287)                     - 

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

Note 4   -   ASSET DISPOSALS AND FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS
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2024 2023
CASH  &  EQUIVALENT  ASSETS Notes $ $
Cash on Hand and at Bank 193,430       199,093       
Deposits at Call 761,452       445,676       

954,882       644,769       
TRADE  &  OTHER  RECEIVABLES
Accrued Revenues 3,334           1,729           
Debtors - general 176,653       270,172       
GST Recoupment 7,921           -                   

187,908       271,901       

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 5 - CURRENT ASSETS
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Fair Value Cost Acc' Dep'n Carrying 
Amount Fair Value Cost Acc' Dep'n Carrying 

Amount

Buildings & Other Structures -                   472,846       (286,648)      186,198       -                   472,846       (310,290)      162,556       

Office Equipment, Furniture & 
Fittings -                   281,287       (253,981)      27,306         -                   282,183       (257,360)      24,823         

Right of use assets -                   1,362,000    (470,711)      891,289       -                   1,424,000    (611,633)      812,367       
                    -     2,116,133    (1,011,340)     1,104,793                     -     2,179,029    (1,179,283)        999,746 

Comparatives                    -     2,066,576      (852,327)     1,214,249                    -     2,116,133   (1,011,340)     1,104,793 

This Note continues on the following pages.

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 6 -  PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT (PP&E)

$ $

Total IPP&E

2023 2024
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2023 2024
$ $

New / Upgrade Renewals In Out

Buildings & Other Structures 186,198    -                -                -                (23,642)     -                -                -                -                162,556    
Office Equipment, Furniture & 
Fittings 27,306      14,141      -                (5,287)       (11,337)     -                -                -                -                24,823      

Right of use assets 891,289    62,000      -                -                (140,922)   -                -                -                -                812,367    
Total IPP&E   1,104,793        76,141                  -        (5,287)    (175,901)                  -                  -                  -                  -      999,746 

Comparatives  1,214,249                 -       49,557                 -    (159,013)                 -                 -                 -                 -  1,104,793 

Carrying Amounts Movement During the Year
$

Carrying 
Amount

TransfersCarrying 
Amount

Additions
Disposals Dep'n Impair't Net Reval'n

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 6 - PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT
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2024 2023
$ $

TRADE  &  OTHER  PAYABLES Notes Current Non-
current Current Non-

current
Goods & Services 104,536     -               60,791     -               
Accrued expenses - employee entitlements 91,748       -               58,987     -               
Accrued expenses - other 2,586         -               -               -               
GST Payable -                 -               2,138       -               

198,870     -               121,916   -               

BORROWINGS
Leases Liabilities 11 139,565     782,210   111,865   881,032   

139,565     782,210   111,865   881,032   

PROVISIONS
LSL Employee entitlements (including 
oncosts) 140,256     33,030     136,974   44,614     

AL Employee entitlements (including 
oncosts) 149,532     -               148,109   -               

289,788     33,030     285,083   44,614     
Amounts included in provisions that are not expected 
to be settled within 12 months of reporting date. -                -              

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 7   -   LIABILITIES
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(a)      Reconciliation of Cash

2024 2023
Notes $ $

Total cash & equivalent assets 5 954,882      644,769     
Balances per Cash Flow Statement 954,882      644,769     

(b)  Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Cash from Operating Activities
Net Surplus (Deficit) 122,120      25,383       
Non-cash items in Income Statement

Depreciation, amortisation & impairment 175,901      159,013     
Net increase (decrease) in unpaid employee benefits 25,882        34,437       

329,190      218,833     
Add (Less): Changes in Net Current Assets

Net (increase) decrease in receivables 81,855        (40,443)      
Net increase (decrease) in trade & other payables 46,331        (15,753)      

Net Cash provided by (or used in) operations 457,376      162,637     

(c)      Financing Arrangements
Unrestricted access was available at balance date to the following lines of credit:

Corporate Credit Cards 5,000          5,000         

The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice.  

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 8 - RECONCILIATION TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Cash Assets comprise highly liquid investments with short periods to maturity subject to insignificant risk 
of changes of value.  Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is 
reconciled to the related items in the Balance Sheet as follows:
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Accounting Policies - Recognised Financial Instruments

for the year ended 30 June 2024

Terms & conditions: Deposits are returning fixed interest rates of
4.55%  (2023:4.3%).  

Accounting Policy: initially recognised atfair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, interest is recognised when earned

Bank, Deposits at Call, Short 
Term Deposits

Carrying amount: approximates fair value due to the short term to
maturity.

All financial instruments are categorised as loans and receivables.

Receivables - Fees & other 
charges

Receivables - other levels of 
government

Carrying amount: approximates fair value.

Accounting Policy: initially recognised at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost. An impairment provision is recognised
using the expected credit loss method

Terms & conditions: Unsecured, and do not bear interest.
Although EHA is not materially exposed to any individual debtor,
credit risk exposure is concentrated within EHA's boundaries.

Carrying amount: approximates fair value (after deduction of any
allowance).

Accounting Policy: initially recognised at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost. An impairment provision is recognised
using the expected credit loss method.

Terms & conditions: Amounts due have been calculated in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the respective programs
following advice of approvals, and do not bear interest.  All amounts are 
due by Departments and Agencies of State and Federal Governments.

Carrying amount: approximates fair value.

Terms & conditions: Liabilities are normally settled on 30 day terms.

Accounting Policy: Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be
paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not
billed to EHA.

Liabilities - Creditors and 
Accruals

Liabilities - Finance Leases

Eastern Health Authority

Note 9 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

Accounting Policy: accounted for in accordance with AASB 16 as
stated in Note 11
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Liquidity Analysis

Due < 1 year Due > 1 year 
< 5 years

Due > 5 
years

Total 
Contractual 
Cash Flows

Carrying 
Values

Financial Assets $ $ $ $ $
Cash & Equivalents 954,882       -                   -                   954,882       954,882       
Receivables 187,908       -                   -                   187,908       187,908       

Total 1,142,790    -                   -                   1,142,790    1,142,790    
Financial Liabilities

Payables 104,536       -                   -                   104,536       104,536       
Lease Liabilities 171,827       564,204       336,037       1,072,068    921,775       

Total 276,363       564,204       336,037       1,176,604    1,026,311    

Due < 1 year Due > 1 year; 
< 5 years

Due > 5 
years

Total 
Contractual 
Cash Flows

Carrying 
Values

Financial Assets $ $ $ $ $
Cash & Equivalents 644,769       -                   -                   644,769       644,769       
Receivables 273,003       -                   -                   273,003       271,901       

Total 917,772       -                   -                   917,772       916,670       
Financial Liabilities

Payables 96,432         -                   -                   96,432         62,929         
Lease Liabilities 111,865       464,492       576,357       1,152,714    992,897       

Total 208,297       464,492       576,357       1,249,146    1,055,826    

for the year ended 30 June 2024

2023

2024

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

Note 9 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (con't)
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Net Fair Value

for the year ended 30 June 2024

All carrying values approximate fair value for all recognised financial instruments.  There is no recognised 
market for the financial assets of EHA. 

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

Note 9 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (con't)

Risk Exposures:

Credit Risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties fail to perform as contracted.  
The maximum credit risk on financial assets of EHA is the carrying amount, net of any impairment.  All 
EHA investments are made with the SA Local Government Finance Authority and are guaranteed by the 
SA Government.  Except as detailed in Notes 5 in relation to individual classes of receivables, exposure 
is concentrated within EHA's boundaries, and there is no material exposure to any individual debtor.

Market Risk is the risk that fair values of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices.  All of EHA's financial assets are denominated in Australian dollars and are not traded on any 
market, and hence neither market risk nor currency risk apply.

Liquidity Risk is the risk that EHA will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations with financial liabilities.  In 
accordance with the model Treasury Management Policy (LGA Information Paper 15), liabilities have a 
range of maturity dates.  EHA also has available a range of bank overdraft and standby borrowing 
facilities that it can access.

Interest Rate Risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates.  EHA has a balance of both fixed and variable interest rate borrowings and investments.  Cash flow 
fluctuations are managed holistically in seeking to minimise interest costs over the longer term in a risk 
averse manner.
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2024 2023
$ $

Income
Council contributions 1,970,200    1,828,000    
Statutory charges 152,387       136,026       
User charges 414,731       457,619       
Grants, subsidies and contributions  - Operating 249,436       230,170       
Investment income 37,380         15,866         
Other income 913               7,255            

2,825,047    2,674,936    
Expenses

Employee costs (1,847,846)   (1,881,592)   
Materials, contracts and other expenses (636,970)      (571,267)      
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (175,901)      (159,013)      
Finance costs (36,923)        (37,681)        

(2,697,640)   (2,649,553)   
Operating Surplus / (Deficit) 127,407       25,383         
Net Outlays on Existing Assets
Capital Expenditure on renewal and replacement of Existing Assets -                   (49,557)        
Add back Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment 175,901       159,013       

175,901       109,456       
Net Outlays on New and Upgraded Assets
Capital Expenditure on New and Upgraded Assets
(including investment property & real estate developments)

(14,141)        -                   

Finance Lease Payments for Right of Use Assets 170,043       146,329       
155,902       146,329       

Adjusted Annual Net Impact to Financing Activities surplus/ (deficit) 459,210       281,168       

All Councils in South Australia have agreed to summarise annual budgets and long-term financial plans 
on the same basis. 
The arrangements ensure that all Councils provide a common 'core' of financial information, which 
enables meaningful comparisons of each Council's finances.  

Note 10  - UNIFORM  PRESENTATION  OF  FINANCES

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024

The following is a detailed summary of both operating and capital investment activities of EHA 
prepared on a modified Uniform Presentation Framework basis, adjusted for timing differences 
associated with prepaid Federal assistance Grants required to be recognised as revenue on receipt in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.

Item 7.1 Attachment 1

Page 40



EHA as a Lessee

Right of Use Assets

Right of Use Assets (Carrying Value)
Building & 

Other 
Structures

Plant, 
Machinery &  
Equipment

Office 
Equipment Total

At 1 July 2023 816,000     75,289           -                 891,289     

Additions -                 62,000           -                 62,000       

Depreciation Charge (96,000)      (44,922)          -                 (140,922)    

At 30 June 2024 720,000     92,367           -                 812,367     

2024

Opening Balance 1 July 2023 992,897     

Additions 62,000       

Payments (133,122)    

Closing Balance 30 June 2024 921,775     

Current 139,565     

Non Current 782,210     

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is included in Note 9.

EHA and its associated entities (the group) had total cash outflows for leases of $170,045

The following are amounts recognised on profit or loss:

Deprecaition expense right of use assets 140,922     

Interest expense on lease liabilities 36,923       

Expenses relating to short term leases 15,736       

Total amount recognised in profit and loss 193,581     

Note 11  -  LEASES

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

Eastern Health Authority

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (including under interest bearing loans and 
borrowings) and the movements during the period:

Set out below are the carrying amounts (written down value) of right of use assets recognised within 
Infrastructure Propery, Plant & Equipment and the movements during the period:
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Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 12 – SUPERANNUATION

The EHA makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to Hostplus (formerly Local 
Government Superannuation Scheme and Statewide Super). There are two types of membership, each of which is 
funded differently. Permanent and contract employees of the South Australian Local Government sector with 
Salarylink benefits prior to 24 November 2009 have the option to contribute to the Accumulation section and/or 
Salarylink. All other employees (including casuals) have all contributions allocated to the Accumulation section.

Accumulation only Members 

Accumulation only members receive both employer and employee contributions on a progressive basis. Employer 
contributions are based on a fixed percentage of ordinary time earnings in accordance with superannuation 
guarantee legislation (11% in 2023-24; 10.5% in 2022-23).  No further liability accrues to the EHA as the 
superannuation benefits accruing to employees are represented by their share of the net assets of the Fund.

Salarylink (Defined Benefit Fund) Members

Salarylink is a defined benefit scheme where the benefit payable is based on a formula determined by the member’s 
contribution rate, number of years and level of contribution and final average salary. EHA makes employer 
contributions to Salarylink as determined by the Fund’s Trustee based on advice from the appointed Actuary. The 
rate is currently 6.3% (6.3% in 2022-23) of “superannuation” salary.

In addition, EHA makes a separate contribution of 3% of ordinary time earnings for Salarylink members to their 
Accumulation account.  Employees also make member contributions to the Salarylink section of the Fund. As such, 
assets accumulate in the Salarylink section of the Fund to meet the member's benefits, as defined in the Trust Deed, 
as they accrue.

The Salarylink section is a multi-employer sponsored plan. As the Salarylink section's assets and liabilities are 
pooled and are not allocated by each employer, and employees may transfer to another employer within the local 
government sector and retain membership of the Fund, the Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and 
costs between employers. As provided by AASB 119.34(a), EHA does not use defined benefit accounting for these 
contributions.

The most recent actuarial investigation was conducted by the Fund's actuary, Louise Campbell, FIAA, of Willis 
Towers Watson as at 30 June 2023.  The Trustee has determined that the current funding arrangements are 
adequate for the expected Salarylink liabilities.  However, future financial and economic circumstances may require 
changes to EHA’s contribution rates at some future time. 

Contributions to Other Superannuation Schemes

EHA also makes contributions to other superannuation schemes selected by employees under the “choice of fund” 
legislation.  All such schemes are of the accumulation type, where the superannuation benefits accruing to the 
employee are represented by their share of the net assets of the scheme, and no further liability attaches to the EHA.
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Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 13 - CONTINGENT ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There are no contingencies, assets or liabilities not recognised in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2024.

Note 14 - EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER BALANCE DATE

There are no events subsequent to 30 June 2024 that need to be disclosed in the financial statements.
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KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

2024 2023
$ $

Salaries, allowances & other short term benefits 195,848       192,884       
TOTAL 195,848       192,884       

2024 2023
$ $

City of Burnside 549,526       494,233       
Cambelltown City Council 485,862       453,186       
City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters 623,600       584,210       
City of Prospect 222,106       214,740       
Town of Walkerville 89,106         81,631         

TOTAL 1,970,200    1,828,000    

2024 2023
$ $

City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters 112,121       112,121       
TOTAL 112,121       112,121       

DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES 

The Key Management Personnel of EHA include the Chairperson, Board Members, CEO and certain 
prescribed officers under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1999. In all, the Key Management 
personnel were paid the following total compensation:

Amounts received from Related Parties during the financial year.

Assist the Constituent Councils to meet their legislative responsibilities in accordance with the SA 
Public Health Act 2011, the Food Act 2001 (SA), the Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992 (SA), 
the Expiation of Offences Act 1996 (SA), (or any successor legislation to these Acts) and any other 
legislation regulating similar matters that the Constituent Councils determine is appropriate within the 
purposes of EHA; Take action to preserve, protect and promote public and environmental health 
within the area of the Constituent Councils.

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2024
Note 15 - RELATED  PARTY  DISCLOSURES

Amounts paid to Related Parties during the financial year.
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EASTERN HEALTH AUTHORITY 

 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2024 
 

 

CERTIFICATION OF AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 
 
 

 
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm that, for the purpose of the audit of 
Eastern Health Authority for the year ended 30 June 2024, Dean Newbery, has maintained 
its independence in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1999 
and the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 made under that Act. 
   
This statement is prepared in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 22(3) Local 
Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

……………………………………. 
Michael Livori 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

……………………………………. 
Madeleine Harding 

PRESIDING  MEMBER 
AUDIT  COMMITTEE 

 
 
 
 
 

Date: 
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Audit Completion Report

Financial Year Ended 30 June 2024

Eastern Health Authority
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6 August 2024

Dear Audit Committee Members 

This report has been prepared for the Eastern Health Authority (the Authority) Audit Committee in 

relation to the financial year ended 30 June 2024 external audit. 

The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Audit Committee a summary of the significant 

matters that have arisen from our audit which we believe covers material matters dealt within our work 

completed. 

As at the time of preparing this report, we have completed a sufficient level of work to enable us to 

provide you with our expected audit opinion subject to finalisation of the outstanding matters outlined 

within this report. We are pleased to report that we expect to issue an unmodified audit report subject 

to the successful completion of the outstanding matters noted. 

Should you require any further information, please contact me on 8267 4777.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the Administration for the assistance provided throughout 

the audit process.

Your sincerely

Samantha Creten

Director

Audit Completion Report2
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Audit Completion Report3
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Scope

The audit procedures have been designed and carried out by the audit team in 

accordance with Australian Auditing Standards and per the audit scope prescribed under 

the Local Government Act 1999 and applicable Regulations for the financial year ended 

30 June 2024.

Audit Completion Report4

Executive Summary

Independence

In accordance with our professional ethical requirements, we confirm that, for the audit of the 

Authority for the financial year ended 30 June 2024, all members of our audit team have maintained 

their independence in accordance with the requirements of APES 110 – Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants, Part 4A, published by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 

Board and in accordance with Local Government Act 1999 and the Local Government (Financial 

Management) Regulations 2011.Audit Status

Subject to the following work being satisfactorily completed, we expect an unmodified audit opinion 

to be issued for the financial year:

• Undertake a review of subsequent events since balance date.

• Obtain certified financial statements as required.

• Receipt of the signed Management Representation Letter.

Outstanding Matters
All requested audit adjustments have been processed and disclosures within the 

financial report appropriately modified based on audit testing completed.

All requested information has been provided by the Administration during the course of 

the audit.

Subject to the finalisation of the matters outlined in this report, our audit opinion for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2024 will be signed without reference to any qualification. 

A draft copy of the audit report has been provided within this report which is expected to 

be issued subject to successful completion of the outstanding matters noted.

Item 7.1 Attachment 3
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Audit Completion Report5

Summary of Misstatements 
Below is a summary of misstatements identified during the course of the Balance Date audit and the status of matters identified. Any misstatements, either individually or in aggregate, that are considered 

to be immaterial, have not been adjusted. 

Misstatements which are considered clearly trivial have not been included. 

Matter 

No.

Description Operating 

Surplus/ 

(Deficit) 

($)

Net 

Surplus/

(Deficit)

($)

Assets

Dr/(Cr)

($)

Liabilities

Dr/(Cr)

($)

Equity

Dr/(Cr)

($)

Status of Matter

1 Recognise disposal of Plant and Equipment Asset (3,963) (3,963) (3,963)                               -                             - Corrected 

2 Reallocation of Workers Compensation Refund 2,463 2,463 - 2,463 - Corrected 

Summary Corrected Misstatements (1,500) (1,500) (3,963) 2,463 (1,500)
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Audit Completion Report6

Summary of Misstatements (continued)
Below is a description of the issues identified with misstatements reported on Page 5:

No. Matter Description

1
Record Disposal of Plant and Equipment 

Asset

Audit testing identified that an asset was acquired during the financial year which was a replacement for an existing asset which was found 

to have not been disposed.  A correction entry has been recorded to recognise disposal of the asset.

2
Reallocation of Workers Compensation 

Refund

It was identified that the refund payment received from Local Government Workers Compensation Scheme relating to overpayment of 

insurance premiums paid in FY23 was incorrectly recognised on the Statement of Financial Position.

A correction was recorded to recognise the refund payment within the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Item 7.1 Attachment 3
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As part of our audit planning process, we identified key audit and accounting matters that were considered and tested during the course of the audit which represented areas of identified risk where 

material misstatements could occur.

As a result of the work we have recently completed, we have provided further detail below of the key audit matters and the outcomes from our testing completed.

Audit Completion Report7

Key Audit Matters Considered

Management Override of Internal Controls

Key Audit Matter Description Audit Work Undertaken Outcomes of Testing Completed

The Australian Auditing Standards mandate that the 

external auditor must assume there is a risk that the 

Authority's Administration can override internal controls, 

even those that appear to be functioning effectively, 

leading to potential manipulation of accounting records.

• Review and observation of controls in operation to assess whether 

controls are operating effectively as intended throughout the period. 

• Perform analytical reviews and recalculation of transactions.

• Test the appropriateness of journal entries processed to prepare the 

financial statements.

• Review of accounting estimates and assumptions applied to the 

preparation of those estimates to evaluate its appropriateness and 

relevance.

No matters were identified during the course of our audit.

Item 7.1 Attachment 3

Page 56



Audit Completion Report8

Key Audit Matters Considered (cont.)
Property, Plant & Equipment

Key Audit Matter Description Audit Work Undertaken Outcomes of Testing Completed

Property, Plant & Equipment – Fixed Asset Register • Reviewed Note 5 Property, Plant & Equipment movements recorded 

against the General Ledger and relevant asset register.

• As mentioned on page 5 above, testing identified an 

adjustment that has been processed.

Financial Statements and General Ledger

Key Audit Matter Description Audit Work Undertaken Outcomes of Testing Completed

Opening Balances – FY23 Comparative Data • Review of the FY23 Trial Balance within MYOB compared to the FY23 

audited financial statements.

• Review of working papers relating to FY23 comparative data to confirm 

accuracy and completeness of comparative data.  

• Identified a variance of $27K between MYOB balance and 

audited financial statements in FY23. Variance related to 

FY23 audit adjustments not being completed in the correct 

accounting period.

• Closing balances as at 30 June 2024 include all audit 

adjustments across FY23 and FY24 period. 

Item 7.1 Attachment 3
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Audit Completion Report9

Matters for Those Charged with Governance and Management
Internal Controls

Description Outcome

As required by Australian Auditing Standard (ASA) 265 Communicating Deficiencies in Internal 

Controls to Those Charged with Governance and Management, the external auditor is required to 

communicate any significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the course of the 

audit.

Our work performed did not identify any significant deficiencies. 

Fraud

Description Outcome

The external audit is not designed to detect fraud however our audit procedures include evaluating 

the risk of material misstatement due to fraud whilst maintaining professional scepticism and 

evaluating evidence for signs of fraud. 

Should any instances arise and we become aware of it, we will report them to you.

Management have confirmed to us that there were no matters of fraud identified for the financial 

year and we have not identified any instances of fraud in the work we have completed.

We believe it is important for the Administration and the Audit Committee to continually evaluate and 

enhance the effectiveness of the internal control environment to identify and mitigate potential fraud 

risks.

Legal Compliance

Description Outcome

We have made enquiries with the Administration in relation to non-compliance with non-

compliance with laws and regulations during the course of the financial year.

No instance of non-compliance have been identified as a result of the enquires we have made with 

the Administration.
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As a result of audit work completed, the following audit matters have been identified during the course of our audit which we have summarised below.

Audit Completion Report10

Matters to be Addressed in Future Financial Years

Building Lease - Right of Use and Lease Liability

Audit Matter Description Audit Recommendation

New Lease Agreement for Office Facilities The Authority will need to perform a recalculation of the Right-of-Use Asset and the Lease Liability 

for the new Building Lease when this is executed as expected within FY25.

Annual Budget and Budget Reviews

Audit Matter Description Audit Recommendation

Review of FY24 Annual Budget and subsequent budget reviews reports identified that the 

Authority didn’t prepare or adopt the Uniform Presentation of Finances statement as required 

under section 9 of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011.

Recommend the Authority ensure it addresses this requirement in future periods and that the 

appropriate reporting templates are updated to include this required statement.
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Audit Completion Report11

Draft Audit Report
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of the Eastern Health Authority 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial report of the Eastern Health Authority (the Authority), 

which comprises the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2024, the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income, the Statements of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows for the 

year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies, and other explanatory information and the Certification of the Financial Statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report presents fairly, in all material aspects, the financial 

position of the Authority as at 30 June 2024, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with the Local Government Act 1999, Local Government (Financial 

Management) Regulations 2011 and the Australian Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described as in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 

Report section of our report. We are independent of the Authority in accordance with the auditor 

independence requirements of the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 

Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant 

to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibility of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 

Report

Management is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s financial report in accordance 

with Australian Accounting Standards, the Local Government Act 1999 and the Local Government 

(Financial Management) Regulations 2011, and for such controls as Management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report is free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, Management is responsible for assessing the Authority’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 

Authority or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Authority’s financial reporting 

process.
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Audit Completion Report12

Draft Audit Report (Cont.)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 

the audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 

if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Authority’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 

draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Authority to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit.

DEAN NEWBERY 

Samantha Creten

Director

Signed on the       day of                    2024
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Disclaimer:

This document is for the exclusive use of the person/organisation named on the front of this document. This document must not  be relied upon by any 

person/organisation who is not the Recipient. Dean Newbery does not take responsibility for any loss, damage or injury caused by use, misuse or 

misinterpretation of the information in this document by any person who is not the Recipient.

The contents of this document are confidential and may not be reproduced in whole or in part without the permission.

Dean Newbery

ABN 48 007 865 081

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Eastern Health Authority Audit Committee Meeting 14 August 2024 

7.2  REPORT ON FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 

Author: Michael Livori 
Ref: AF24/39 

Summary 

Section 10 of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 requires a 
regional subsidiary to prepare a report showing its audited financial results for the 
previous financial year compared with its estimated financial results set out in the budget 
in a manner consistent with the Model Financial Statements.  

Report 

The required comparison has been completed and is provided as attachment 1 to this 
report. Commentary in relation to the comparison is detailed below. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income

 Total Operating Income was $7,953 (-0.3%) less than budgeted. 

 Total Operating Expenditure was $135,360 (-4.8%) less than budgeted.  

 More detail in relation to income and expenditure variations is provided later in the 

report (see Funding Statement section of report). 

 The operating result estimate was a surplus of $122,120 compared to the budgeted 

result of a break even. 

 The operating result is a $122,120 improvement on the budgeted operating result. 

Statement of Cash Flow 

 Cash and Cash Equivalents (C&CE) at the End of Reporting Period was $954,882. 

 C&CE were $324,113 more than the budgeted estimate.  

Statement of Financial Position 

 Total Assets are $2,142,536. 

 A significant proportion of the recorded assets is due to the application of AAASB 

Standard 16 Leases which requires the estimated value of leases to be treated as an 

asset (Equipment) on Balance Sheet. EHA has had a long-term rental lease for its office 

facility in the St Peters library Complex which is currently in the process of being 
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extended and a number of short-term motor vehicle leases (value of leases – see Note 

10). 

 Total liabilities are $1,443,463 

 A significant proportion of the recorded liabilities are due to the application of AAASB 

Standard 16 Leases which requires the estimated costs of maintaining leases to be 

treated as a liability (Borrowings) on Balance Sheet.  EHA has had a long-term rental 

lease for its office facility in the St Peters library Complex which is currently in the 

process of being extended and a number of short-term motor vehicle leases (value of 

leases – see Note 10). 

Total Equity is $699,073 which is $122,120 more than the budgeted estimate.

Statement of Changes in Equity 

The net result of a $122,120 surplus was $122,120 more favourable than the budgeted estimate. 

Total Equity increased by $122,120 and at the end of the reporting period and is now $699,073. 

Eastern Health Authority Funding Statement 2023/2024

EHA’s Funding Statement 2023/2024 provides more detailed information in relation to individual 
budget line performance against both the Original and Revised budget. The Funding Statement 
provides members with information in relation to all operating expenses such as rent and vehicle 
leases which are required to be accounted for on the Statement of Financial Position in the 
Financial Statements. In essence the Funding Statement provides members with a reflection of 
the cash result on an Operating basis. The Funding Statement is provided as attachment 2. 

The table below details income variations against the Revised Budget of greater than $10,000 and 
where appropriate an explanation for the variation. Unfavourable variations are shown in red, 
while favourable variations are black. 

Income Variations ($) 

Budget Line Variation Reason 

Fines (30,005) Less fines issued 

Non – Funded Vaccines 22,513 Increase in fee vaccines sold at clinics 

Worksite Immunisation (21,664) More worksites but less numbers per site 

Food Auditing Fees 20,107 Increase in billable audit hours 

Interest 17,380 Increase in investment income 

The variation in relation to total actual income received as compared to budgeted income is 
($7,963) or -0.3% (Actual $2,825,047 / Budgeted $2,833,000). 
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The following table details expenditure variations of greater than $10,000 and where appropriate 
an explanation for the variation. Unfavourable variations are shown in red, while favourable 
variations are black. 

Expenditure Variations ($) 

Budget Line Variation Reason 

Total Employee Costs (176,154) Staff on long term leave, time in replacing 

staff 

Insurance 14,586 Increases to all insurance premiums 

Legal  (13,939) Reduction in legal costs for EHA  

Immunisation Clinic Vaccines 15,429 Increase in fee for service vaccines 

purchased (see additional income above) 

Strategic Plan Development (10,000) Less than budgeted value 

IT Upgrade (Approved March 2024 Budget Review) 

Maintenance 20,962 IT and equipment expensed 

Capital Expenditure – plant and 

equipment 

(25,860) IT and equipment capitalised 

Effect of AAASB Standard 16 - Leases on Funding Statement 

Vehicle Lease / Maintenance (43,807) Decrease due to application of AAASB 

Standard 16 Leases – value of leased 

assets 

Motor Vehicle operating costs within 728

of budgeted estimate 

Rent (115,000) Decrease due to application of AAASB 

Standard 16 Leases – value of leased 

assets 

Rent operating costs 6,464 more than 

budget estimate due to payment from 

previous year required (13 payments 

made) 

Finance Charges 39,923 Application of AAASB Standard 16 Leases 

– value of leased assets 

Depreciation and Amortisation 149,901 Application of AAASB Standard 16 Leases 

– value of leased assets 
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The variation in relation to total expenditure as compared to budgeted expenditure is ($130,073) 
or – 4.6% (Actual $2,702,927/ Budgeted $2,833,000). 

The Budgeted Net Funding Statement Result was a deficit of $14,000 while the actual Net Funding 
Statement Result was a surplus of $144,283 (a difference of $158,283).  

RECOMMENDATION 

That: 

The report on Financial Results for the Year Ending 30 June 2024 is received.
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7.3 EASTERN HEALTH AUTHORITY (EHA) AUDIT COMMITTEE ANNUAL 
EVALUATION REPORT 2023/2024 

Author: Michael Livori 
Ref: AF16/97 

Summary 

Clause 12 of the Audit Committee Terms of Reference provides details in 
relation to the Annual Review and Reporting to the Board in relation to the 
Audit Committee’s own performance to ensure it is operating at maximum 
effectiveness. The Audit Committee has prepared an Annual Evaluation 
Report 2023/2024 for the Board of Management.  

Report 

Clause 12 of the Audit Committee Terms of Reference provides the following 
details in relation to the annual review and reporting to the Board:  

12. ANNUAL REVIEW AND REPORTING TO BOARD COMMITTEE 

12.1. The Committee shall annually review its own performance and 
Terms of Reference to ensure it is operating at maximum 
effectiveness and recommend changes it considers necessary 
to the Board for approval. 

12.2. In reviewing its performance, the Committee will have regard 
to: 

12.2.1. The achievement of the Committee’s role and 
Terms of Reference. 

12.2.2.  The Committee’s decision making process. 
12.2.3. The timeliness, quality and quantity of 

information received. 
12.2.4. The relationship with the Board, 

Administration and other members of   the 
Committee. 

12.3. The involvement and attendance by members. 

12.4. Following the Committee’s annual review, the Chair (and 
other Independent Members as appropriate) of the Audit 
Committee shall provide a report to the Board on the Audit 
Committee’s view in relation to the key areas of responsibility 
under these Terms of Reference, being, where relevant: 

12.4.1. Financial statements and the EHA’s financial 
position. 

12.4.2.  Key financial and risk related policy issues. 
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12.4.3. EHA’s risk management practices and 
framework. 

12.4.4.  Internal financial controls. 
12.4.5.  Fraud and whistleblowing provisions. 
12.4.6.  EHA’s long term financial planning. 
12.4.7.  Asset management planning. 
12.4.8.  Other issues of note. 

The EHA Audit Committee Annual Evaluation report is provided as attachment 
1. The report serves as a self-evaluation tool for the Committee, summarises 
the work undertaken during the 2023/2024 financial year and identifies any 
training needs and future Audit Work Plan proposals. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That: 

1 The report titled EHA Audit Committee Annual Report Evaluation 
2023/2024 is received. 
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EHA Audit Committee 
 

Annual Report Evaluation 
FY 2024 

 

  

Page 76



Item 7.3 Attachment 1 

UPDATE                                                                                                                                                          Page 2 

 

Background 
 
The Audit Committee (the Committee) Terms of Reference states “the Committee shall annually 
review its own performance and terms of reference to ensure it is operating at maximum 
effectiveness and recommend changes it considers necessary to the Board for approval.” 

 
The Committee’s Work Plan requires the Annual Report to the Board to: 
 

• Outline outputs relative to the audit committee’s work plan and the results of a self-
assessment of performance for the preceding period including whether it believes any 
changes to its charter are appropriate 

• Outline any identified training needs 

• Advise future Audit Work Plan proposals 

• Invite comment from the Board on all of the above.  

 
This report presents a summary of Eastern Health Authority (EHA) Audit Committee’s activities 
during the FY 2024 year.  
 
Conduct of Meetings 
 
The Committee met on 3 occasions during 2023-2024.  The table below provides membership and 
meetings attended: 
 

Meeting Dates  
  

16 August 2023 

 

6 December 2023 

17 May 2024 

 

Committee Membership  Term Expiry Number of Meetings 
Attended 

Madeleine Harding – Presiding 
Member 

15 February 2025 3  

Natalie Caon – Independent 
Member 

31 July 2026 3  

Peter Cornish – Board 
Representative 

November 2026 3 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Role of Audit Committee  
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The Audit Committee is established under Sections 41 and 126 of the Local Government Act 
1999 (as amended) to provide comment, suggestion and recommendation to the Board about 
matters including finance, risk, and audit. 
 
During the financial year the Audit Committee met on three occasions and considered reports on 
matters which had been referred to the Committee. 
 
The role of the Audit Committee is not to make decisions on behalf of the EHA Board but rather 
to review and consider the appropriateness of EHA processes in the areas of: 

• Financial reporting, sustainability and accounting policies 
• Risk Management and Internal control procedures 
• External Audit function (EHA’s financial auditors) 
• Internal Audit and compliance including efficiency and effectiveness                     
 audits, if required. 

 

During FY 2023 Committee members attended the following training courses/sessions: 
 

Training 
Course/Session 

Date  Provider Members 
Attending 

Nil N/a N/a N/a 

 
Cost of Audit Committee  
 

Audit Committee Membership FY 2024 Fees Paid FY 2024 

  

Madeleine Harding $1,350 

Peter Cornish $0 

Natalie Caon $1050 

 
Number of Outstanding Resolutions: 
 

No Outstanding Resolution Status 

Nil   
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Audit Committee Evaluation 
 
In July 2024 the Committee undertook a self-assessment of its performance by completing a 
questionnaire (all members were invited to complete this questionnaire).  
 
Below is a consolidated summary of the self-assessment. 
 

Ref Question Response Comment 

1 Is the Committee satisfied that its 
current Terms of Reference are 
appropriate? 

Yes N/a  

2 Does the Work Plan address the 
Terms of Reference and is it 
achievable? 

Yes N/a 

3 Is the Committee satisfied that it is 
effectively monitoring risk 
management and internal controls 

Yes N/a  

4 Is there sufficient time allocated 
during the meetings to adequately 
discuss agenda items? 

Yes N/a 

5 Are the reports prepared for the 
meetings sufficiently 
comprehensive to allow you to 
make informed decisions? 

Yes N/a 

6 Does the Committee believe it is 
adequately informed on current 
and emerging trends and factors? 

Yes N/a 

7 The Committee size is adequate Yes N/a  

8 The frequency and duration of 
meetings are sufficient to ensure 
effective committee governance 

Yes N/a 
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Each question in the table below was scored using a scale of 1 to 5 where 1 is poor and 5 is 
excellent. 
 

Ref Question Average 

9 How do you rate the overall efficiency and 
effectiveness of the Committee? 

4 

10 How do you rate the performance of the 
Chairperson in preparing for and conducting 
meetings? 

4 

11 How do you rate the performance of the other 
members of the Committee in fulfilling their role 
on the Committee 

4 

12 How do you rate the performance of the staff in 
facilitating the committee’s role and function? 

4 

13 Do you have any suggestions for improving any 
aspect of the Committee’s, performance, role or 
function? 

As raised previously, a higher 
level of assurance could be 
provided to the EHA Board f: 

• the Committee had the 
opportunity to review 
budgets and financial 
statements prior to Board 
meetings 

• additional resources were 
made available to 
independently review key 
risks and related internal 
controls. 

 

 
Following from its self-assessment process the Committee recommends the following 
Training / professional development for its members: 
 

Training/Professional Development Need Committee Member 

Nil Nil 

 
 

Chairperson’s Comments 
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Annual Report FY 2024 

As the Presiding Member of the Audit Committee, I am satisfied that the Committee has met 
its responsibilities under the Terms of Reference and provides the required level of assurance 
to the Board. 

The addition of our most recent member, Natalie Caon, ensures that the Committee consists 
of members with the requisite mix of skills, knowledge and experience. 

 Presiding Member Report 

As always, the Audit Committee appreciates efforts made by the Chief Executive Officer and 
EHA Administration to improve financial management practices and strengthen relationships 
with EHA’s the external auditors.  
 
Activities undertaken by the Committee include consideration of: 
•  General Purpose Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2023  
•  Report on Financial Results for the Year Ended 30 June 2023  
•  Long Term Financial Plan Revised Estimates 
•  Debt Collection Policy 
•  Risk Management Policy 
•  Finance Reports and Budget Reviews 
•  Corporate Risk Summary  
•  Internal Controls Register  
•  Update on Audit Finding Recommendations 
•  Draft Annual Business Plan and Budgeted Financial Statement 
•  Eastern Health Authority Charter Review 
•  Appointment of External Auditor. 
 
On behalf of the Audit Committee, I thank the Chief Executive Officer and EHA Administration 
for providing comprehensive and understandable reports to the Committee. This has allowed 
the us to meet our responsibilities as outlined in the Terms of Reference during this year. 
 
 

 
 
 
Madeleine Harding 
Presiding Member 
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7.4 LONG-TERM FINANCIAL PLAN REVISED FINANCIAL ESTIMATES 

Author: Michael Livori 
Ref:  AF13/78 

Summary 

This report provides updated Long-Term Financial Estimates (LTFE) for consideration by 
the Audit Committee. 

Report 

The purpose of the EHA LTFE is to express, in financial terms, the activities that EHA 
proposes to undertake over the medium to longer term to achieve its stated objectives as 
outlined in its Charter and Business Plan.  

EHA is an operational based organisation focused on meeting the regulatory requirements 
of its member councils. Unlike its Constituent Councils it is not responsible for managing a 
high level of long-lived assets.  

In essence, the LTFE which cover the period 2025 – 2034 is simply a projection of current 
operating arrangements moving forward. 

The key assumptions used to develop the LTFE are detailed below. 

Budget Result 

EHA has historically aimed to budget for a breakeven operating result. The LTFE for 2025-
2034 continue to be based on a breakeven result. 

Wages   

71% of EHA’s operational expenditure relates to employee costs. Employee costs are 
therefore the most important driver requiring consideration.  The most recent Enterprise 
Agreement process resulted in a 4% increase in wages for 2025 and 2026 which have been 
used in the LTFE. The long-term average for wage growth is around 2.5%. A value of 3.0% 
has been used for 2027-2034. 

Income 

71% of EHA’s operational income relates to Constituent Council contributions. Constituent 
Council contributions are therefore the most important income driver requiring 
consideration.  A value of 4% has been used for 2025 and 2026 to align with employee 
costs and a value of 3.0% has been used for 2027-2034, again to align with employee costs. 
The alignment ensures a breakeven result is reflected in the estimates. 

Expenses  

29% of EHA’s operational expenditure relates to non-employee related costs. While there 
may be some variation in projected increases for differing expenditure items, it is not 
considered practical or meaningful to differentiate between these items in the context of 
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the EHA budget. A global value has therefore been assigned to expenditure. That value is 
4% for 2025 and 2026 and a value of 3.0% for 2027-2034.  

Aligning wages, income and expenses in terms of value ensures that the LTFE reflect a 
breakeven result. 

Revised Long-Term financial estimates for 2025-2024 based on the audited results from 
2023-2024 and the key assumptions detailed above are provided as attachment 1 for 
consideration. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That: 

1. Long-Term Financial Plan revised financial estimates report is received. 

2. The Long-Term Financial Plan revised financial estimates are presented to the Board 
of Management for consideration.
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7.5 EASTERN HEALTH AUTHORITY CHARTER REVIEW UPDATE 

Author:  Michael Livori 
Ref:  AF20/47  

Summary  

Clause 19 of Schedule 2 of the Local Government Act 1999 requires that a regional 

subsidiary has a Charter prepared by its Constituent Councils, and that the Charter is 

reviewed every 4 years. Clause 12.3 a) of the Charter also requires the review to occur at 

least every 4 years. The last review of the Eastern Health Authority Charter was finalised 

in May 2016. An initial report was considered by the Board at its June 2020 meeting and 

the review process subsequently commenced. This report provides Audit Committee 

Members with the latest update in relation to the review process. 

Report 

As previously reported, the current Charter Review process had not been finalised due to 

a lack of consensus on proposed changes to Clauses 2.2 and 2.5 of the current Eastern 

Health Authority (EHA) Charter. These clauses consider the membership of the Board of 

Management and the Chair of the Board of Management.  

To finalise the Charter review process, a draft amended Charter was provided to each 

Constituent Council for consideration and adoption. The draft amended Charter contained 

all agreed changes, however there were no changes to the clauses detailed above from 

the previous iteration of the Charter.  

All Constituent Councils have advised that they had resolved to adopt the amended 

Charter provided. A copy of the correspondence received is provided as attachment 1 

To finalise the review process, a Notice of Amendment of Charter was published in the 

Government Gazette on 1 August 2024 (attachment 2), the amended  Charter was 

published on the Eastern Health Authority website (https://www.eha.sa.gov.au/about-

us/charter-and-board-of-management) and the Minister for Local Government was 

provided with a copy of the  amended Charter on 6 August 2024 (attachment 3). 

RECOMMENDATION 

That:  

The Eastern Health Authority Charter Review Update Report is received. 
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1. EASTERN HEALTH AUTHORITY 

1.1. Regional subsidiary 

Eastern Health Authority (EHA) is a regional subsidiary established under 

section 43 of the Act. 

1.2. Constituent Councils 

The Constituent Councils of EHA are: 

a) City of Norwood Payneham & St Peters; 

b) City of Burnside; 

c) Campbelltown City Council; 

d) City of Prospect; and 

e) The Corporation of the Town of Walkerville, 

(Constituent Councils). 

1.3. Preamble 

The field of Environmental health continues to increase in complexity and 

diversity, making it difficult for small to medium size councils to attract and retain 

staff who are experienced and fully skilled across the legislative demands 

placed on Local Government. 

EHA’s size, structure and sole focus on environmental health puts it in an ideal 

position to provide high quality, specialist services to the community on behalf 

of its Constituent Councils.  This in turn ensures Constituent Councils are 

meeting their broad environmental health legislative responsibilities. 

1.4. Purpose 

EHA is established by the Constituent Councils for the purpose of providing 

public and environmental health services primarily to and within the areas of 

the Constituent Councils. 

1.5. Functions 

For, or in connection with its purpose, EHA may undertake the following 

functions: 

a) take action to preserve, protect and promote public and 

environmental health within the area of the Constituent Councils; 

b) cooperate with other authorities involved in the administration of 

public and environmental health; 

c) promote and monitor public and environmental health whether in or, 

so far as the Act and the charter allows, outside the area of the 

Constituent Councils;  
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d) assist the Constituent Councils to mee  t their legislative 

responsibilities in accordance with the SA Public Health Act, the Food 

Act 2001 (SA), the Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992 (SA), the 

Expiation of Offences Act 1996 (SA), the Housing Improvement Act 

1940 (SA) (or any successor legislation to these Acts) and any other 

legislation regulating similar matters that the Constituent Councils 

determine is appropriate within the purposes of EHA; 

e) establish objectives and policy priorities for the promotion and 

protection of public and environmental health within the areas of the 

Constituent Councils; 

f) provide immunisation programs for the protection of public health 

within the areas of the Constituent Councils or to ensure that such 

programs are provided; 

g) promote and monitor standards of hygiene and sanitation; 

h) promote and monitor food safety standards; 

i) identify risks to public and environmental health within the areas of the 

Constituent Councils; 

j) monitor and regulate communicable and infectious disease control; 

k) licence and monitor standards in Supported Residential Facilities; 

l) ensure that remedial action is taken to reduce or eliminate adverse 

impacts or risks to public and environmental health; 

m) provide, or support the provision of, educational information about 

public and environmental health and provide or support activities 

within the areas of the Constituent Councils to preserve, protect or 

promote public health; 

n) keep the Constituent Councils abreast of any emerging 

opportunities, trends and issues in public and environmental health; 

and 

o) any other functions described in the Charter or assigned by the 

Constituent Councils to EHA consistent with EHA's purpose.  

1.6. Powers 

 EHA has the powers necessary for the carrying out of its functions, and may:  

a) enter into contracts or arrangements with any government agency or 

authority, or councils, including the Constituent Councils; 

b) appoint, employ, remunerate, remove or suspend officers, managers, 

employees and agents; 
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c) enter into contracts with any person for the acquisition or provision of 

goods and services; 

d) receive financial contributions from the Constituent Councils; 

e) publish information; 

f) acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of any real or personal property, 

subject to the requirements of the Constituent Councils; 

g) open and operate bank accounts; 

h) acquire funds for the purpose of its functions or operations by entering 

into loan agreements; 

i) invest any of the funds of EHA in any investment with the LGA Finance 

Authority, provided that in exercising this power of investment EHA 

must: 

(a) exercise the care, diligence and skill that a prudent person of 

business would exercise in managing the affairs of other 

persons; and 

(b) avoid investments that are speculative or hazardous in nature; 

j) raise revenue by applying for grants and other funding from the State 

of South Australia or the Commonwealth of Australia and their 

respective agencies or instrumentalities on behalf of the Constituent 

Councils or on its own behalf.  

1.7. Area of activity 

a) EHA may undertake an activity, including in relation to one or more of 

its functions and powers set out in clauses 1.5 and 1.6  outside the 

area of the Constituent Councils where that activity has been 

approved by  a  resolution supported unanimously by all the Board 

Members of EHA present at the relevant meeting on the basis EHA 

considers the activity is necessary or expedient to the performance by 

EHA of its functions subject to:  

(a) the relevant  activity being included in the EHA business plan; 

(b) there being no material impact on EHA’s ability to undertake its 

functions set out in clause 1.5;    

(c) the relevant activity is determined to have a positive impact on 

EHA and its Constituent Council; 
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(d) EHA obtaining the concurrence of the Chief Executive Officers 

of the Constituent Councils to EHA undertaking the relevant 

activity. 

1.8. Common seal 

a) EHA shall have a common seal upon which its corporate name shall 

appear in legible characters. 

b) The common seal shall be kept in the custody of the Chief Executive 

Officer or such other person as EHA may from time to time decide. 

2. BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 

2.1. Functions 

The Board is the governing body of EHA and is responsible for the 

administration of the affairs of EHA. A decision of the Board is a decision of EHA..  

In addition to the functions of the Board set out in the LG Act the Board  will: 

a) take all reasonable and practicable steps to ensure that EHA acts in 

accordance with the Charter;  

b) formulate plans and strategies aimed at improving the activities of 

EHA; 

c) provide input and policy direction to EHA; 

d) monitor, oversee and evaluate the performance of the Chief Executive 

Officer; 

e) ensure that ethical behaviour and integrity is maintained in all 

activities undertaken by EHA; 

f) subject to clause 3.10, ensure that the activities of EHA are undertaken 

in an open and transparent manner;  

g) participate in the development of the Business Plan, and 

h) exercise the care, diligence and skill that a prudent person of business 

would exercise in managing the affairs of other persons. 

2.2. Membership of the Board 

a) Each Constituent Council must appoint: 

(a) one elected member; and 

(b) one other person who may be an officer, employee or elected 

member of that Constituent Council or an independent person, 

to be Board members and may at any time revoke these 

appointments and appoint other persons on behalf of that Constituent 

Council. 
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b) A Board Member shall be appointed for the term of office specified in 

the instrument of appointment, and at the expiration of the term of 

office will be eligible for re-appointment by the Constituent Council 

that appointed that Board Member. 

c) Each Constituent Council must give notice in writing to EHA of the 

persons it has appointed as Board Members and of any revocation of 

any of those appointments. 

d) Any person authorised by a Constituent Council may attend (but not 

participate in) a Board meeting and may have access to papers 

provided to Board Members for the purpose of the meeting. 

e) The provisions regarding the office of a board member becoming 

vacant as prescribed in the Act apply to all Board Members.  

f) Where the office of a board member becomes vacant, the relevant 

Constituent Council will appoint another person as a Board member 

for the balance of the original term or such other term as the 

Constituent Council determines. 

g) The Board may by a two thirds majority vote of the Board Members 

present (excluding the Board Member who is the subject of a 

recommendation under this clause g)) make a recommendation to 

the relevant Constituent Council requesting that the Constituent 

Council terminate the appointment of a Board Member in the event of: 

(a) any behaviour of the Board Member which in the opinion of the 

Board amounts to impropriety; 

(b) serious neglect of duty in attending to their responsibilities as a 

Board Member; 

(c) breach of fiduciary duty to EHA, a Constituent Council or the 

Constituent Councils; 

(d) breach of the duty of confidentiality to EHA, a Constituent 

Council or the Constituent Councils; 

(e) breach of the conflict of interest provisions of the Act; or 

(f) any other behaviour that may, in the opinion of the Board, 

discredit EHA a Constituent Council or the Constituent 

Councils. 

h) The members of the Board shall not be entitled to receive any 

remuneration in respect of their appointment as a Board Member 

including their attendance at meetings of the Board or on any other 

business of the EHA.  
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2.3. Conduct of Board Members 

a) Subject to clauses 20(6) and 20(7), Schedule 2 to the Act, the 

provisions regarding conflict of interest prescribed in the Act apply to 

Board Members. 

b) Board Members are not required to comply with Division 2, Part 4, 

Chapter 5 (Register of Interests) of the Act. 

c) Board Members must at all times act in accordance with their duties 

under the Act.   

2.4. Board policies and codes 

a) EHA must ensure that appropriate policies, practices and procedures 

are implemented and maintained in order to: 

(a) ensure compliance with any statutory requirements; and 

(b) achieve and maintain standards of good public administration. 

b) EHA will adopt a  code of conduct for Board Members. 

c) The Board must, as far as it is reasonable and practicable, ensure that 

EHA’s policies are complied with in the conduct of the affairs of EHA 

and are reviewed at regular intervals to be determined by the Board 

on the recommendation of the audit committee. 

d) The audit committee will develop a schedule for the periodic review 

of EHA policies by 30 June each year and provide this to the Board for 

approval. 

2.5. Chair of the Board 

a) A Chair and Deputy Chair shall be elected at the first meeting of the 

Board after a Periodic Election. 

b) The Chair and Deputy Chair shall hold office for a period of one year 

from the date of the election by the Board. 

c) Where there is more than one nomination for the position of Chair or 

Deputy Chair, the election shall be decided by ballot. 

d) Both the Chair and Deputy Chair shall be eligible for re-election to their 

respective offices at the end of the relevant one year term.  

e) If the Chair should cease to be a Board Member, or resign their 

position as chair, the Deputy Chair may act as the Chair until the 

election of a new Chair. 

f) In the event the Chair is absent the Deputy Chair shall act as the Chair. 
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2.6. Powers of the Chair and Deputy Chair 

a) The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Board and, in the event 

of the Chair being absent from a meeting, the Deputy Chair shall 

preside.  In the event of the Chair and Deputy Chair being absent from 

a meeting, the Board Members present shall appoint a member from 

among them, who shall preside for that meeting or until the Chair or 

Deputy Chair is present. 

b) The Chair and the Deputy Chair individually or collectively shall have 

such powers as may be decided by EHA. 

2.7. Committees 

a) EHA may establish a committee for the purpose of: 

(a) enquiring into and reporting to the Board on any matter within 

EHA’s functions and powers and as detailed in the terms of 

reference given by the Board to the committee; or 

(b) exercising, performing or discharging delegated powers, 

functions or duties. 

b) A member of a committee established under this clause holds office 

at the pleasure of EHA. 

c) The Chair of the Board is an ex-officio member of any committee 

established by EHA. 

3. MEETINGS OF THE BOARD 

3.1. Ordinary meetings 

a) Ordinary meetings of the Board will take place at such times and 

places as may be fixed by the Board or where there are no meetings 

fixed by the Board, by the Chief Executive Officer in consultation with 

the Chair from time to time, so that there are no less than five ordinary 

meetings per financial year.  

b) Notice of ordinary meetings of the Board must be given by the Chief 

Executive Officer to each Board Member and the Chief Executive 

Officer of each Constituent Council at least three clear days prior to 

the holding of the meeting. 

3.2. Special meetings 

a) Any two Board Members may by delivering a written request to the 

Chief Executive Officer require a special meeting of the Board to be 

held. 
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b) The request must be accompanied by the proposed agenda for the 

meeting and any written reports intended to be considered at the 

meeting (if the proposed agenda is not provided the request is of no 

effect). 

c) On receipt of the request, the Chief Executive Officer must send a 

notice of the special meeting to all Board Members and Chief 

Executive Officers of the Constituent Councils at least four hours prior 

to the commencement of the special meeting. 

d) The Chair may convene special meetings of the Board at the Chair's 

discretion without complying with the notice requirements prescribed 

in clause 3.4 provided always that there is a minimum four hours 

notice given to Board members. 

3.3. Telephone or video conferencing 

a) Special meetings of the Board convened under clause 3.2 may occur 

by electronic means in accordance with procedures determine by the 

EHA Board of Management and provided that at least a quorum is 

present at all times.   

3.4. Notice of meetings 

a) Except where clause 3.2 applies, notice of Board meetings must be 

given in accordance with this clause. 

b) Notice of any meeting of the Board must: 

(a) be in writing; 

(b) set out the date, time and place of the meeting; 

(c) be signed by the Chief Executive Officer;  

(d) contain, or be accompanied by, the agenda for the meeting; 

and 

(e) be accompanied by a copy of any document or report that is to 

be considered at the meeting (as far as this is practicable). 

c) Notice under clause b) may be given to a Board Member: 

(a) personally; 

(b) by delivering the notice (whether by post or otherwise) to the 

usual place of residence of the Board Member or to another 

place authorised in writing by the Board Member; 

(c) electronically via email to an email address approved by the 

Board Member;  
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(d) by leaving the notice at the principal office of the Constituent 

Council which appointed the Board Member; or 

(e) by a means authorised in writing by the Board Member being 

an available means of giving notice. 

d) A notice that is not given in accordance with clause c) will be taken to 

have been validly given if the Chief Executive Officer considers it 

impracticable to give the notice in accordance with that clause and 

takes action that the Chief Executive Officer considers reasonably 

practicable in the circumstances to bring the notice to the Board 

Member's attention. 

e) The Chief Executive Officer may indicate on a document or report 

provided to Board Members that any information or matter contained 

in or arising from the document or report is confidential until such time 

as the Board determines whether the document or report will be 

considered in confidence under clause 3.10.b).  

3.5. Minutes 

a) The Chief Executive Officer must cause minutes to be kept of the 

proceedings at every meeting of the Board. 

b) Where the Chief Executive Officer is excluded from attendance at a 

meeting of the Board pursuant to clause 3.10.b), the person presiding 

at the meeting shall cause the minutes to be kept. 

3.6. Quorum 

a) A quorum of Board Members is constituted by dividing the total 

number of Board Members for the time being in office by two, ignoring 

any fraction resulting from the division and adding one. 

b) No business will be transacted at a meeting unless a quorum is 

present . 

3.7. Meeting procedure 

a) EHA may determine its own procedures for the conduct of its 

meetings provided they are not inconsistent with the Act or the charter.   

b) Meeting procedures determined by EHA must be documented and be 

made available to the public.   

c) Where the Board has not determined a procedure to address a 

particular circumstance, the provisions of Part 2 of the Local 

Government (Procedures at Meetings) Regulations 2000 (SA) shall 

apply.  
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3.8. Voting 

a) Board Members including the Chair, shall have a deliberative vote.  

The Chair shall not in the event of a tied vote, have a second or 

casting vote. 

b) All matters will be decided by simple majority of votes of the Board 

Members present.  In the event of a tied vote the matter will lapse. 

c) Each Board Member present at a meeting, including Board 

Members attending a meeting by electronic means must vote on a 

question arising for decision at the meeting. 

3.9. Circular resolutions 

A valid decision of the Board may be obtained by a proposed 

resolution in writing given to all Board Members in accordance with 

procedures determined by the Board, and a resolution made in 

accordance with such procedures is as valid and effectual as if it had 

been passed at a meeting of the Board.. 

3.10. Meetings to be held in public except in special circumstances 

a) Subject to this clause, meetings of EHA must be conducted in a place 

open to the public.   

b) EHA may order that the public be excluded from attendance at any 

meeting in accordance with the procedure under sections 90(2) and 

90(3) of the Act.   

c) An order made under clause b) must be recorded in the minutes of 

the meeting including describing the grounds on which the order was 

made. 

3.11. Public inspection of documents 

a) Subject to clause c), a person is entitled to inspect, without payment 

of a fee: 

(a) minutes of a Board Meeting;  

(b) reports received by the Board Meeting; and 

(c) recommendations presented to the Board in writing and 

adopted by resolution of the Board. 

b) Subject to clause c), a person is entitled, on payment to the Board of 

a fee fixed by the Board, to obtain a copy of any documents available 

for inspection under clause a). 

c) Clauses a) and b) do not apply in relation to a document or part of a 

document if: 
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(a) the document or part of the document relates to a matter of a 

kind considered by the Board in confidence under clause 

3.10.b); and  

(b) the Board orders that the document or part of the document be 

kept confidential (provided that in so ordering the Board must 

specify the duration of the order or the circumstances in which 

it will cease to apply or a period after which it must be 

reviewed). 

3.12. Saving provision 

a) No act or proceeding of EHA is invalid by reason of: 

(a) a vacancy or vacancies in the membership of the Board; or 

(b) a defect in the appointment of a Board Member. 

4. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

4.1. Appointment 

a) EHA shall appoint a Chief Executive Officer to manage the business of 

EHA on a fixed term performance based employment contract, which 

does not exceed five years in duration. 

b) At the expiry of a Chief Executive Officer's contract, the Board may 

reappoint the same person as Chief Executive Officer on a new 

contract of no greater than five years duration. 

4.2. Responsibilities 

a) The Chief Executive Officer is responsible to EHA for the execution of 

decisions taken by EHA and for the efficient and effective 

management of the affairs of EHA. 

b) The Chief Executive Officer shall cause records to be kept of all 

activities and financial affairs of EHA in accordance with the charter, 

in addition to other duties provided for by the charter and those 

specified in the terms and conditions of appointment. 

4.3. Functions of the Chief Executive Officer 

The functions of the Chief Executive Officer include to: 

a) ensure that the policies, procedures, codes of conduct and any lawful 

decisions of EHA are implemented and promulgated in a timely and 

efficient manner; 

b) undertake responsibility for the day to day operations and affairs of 

EHA; 
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c) provide advice, assistance and reports to EHA through the Board in 

the exercise and performance of its powers and functions under the 

charter and the Act; 

d) initiate and co-ordinate proposals for consideration by EHA for 

developing objectives, policies and programs for the Constituent 

Council areas; 

e) provide information to EHA to assist EHA to assess performance 

against EHA plans;   

f) ensure that timely and accurate information about EHA policies and 

programs is regularly provided to the communities of the Constituent 

Councils; 

g) ensure that appropriate and prompt responses are given to specific 

requests for information made to EHA and, where appropriate, the 

Constituent Councils; 

h) ensure that the assets and resources of EHA are properly managed 

and maintained; 

i) maintain records that EHA and the Constituent Councils are required 

to maintain under the charter, the Act or another Act in respect of EHA; 

j) ensure sound principles of human resource management, health and 

safety to the employment of staff by EHA, including the principles listed 

in section 107(2) of the Act;  

k) ensure compliance with the obligations under Work Health and Safety 

Act 2012 (SA) of both EHA and the Chief Executive Officer (as an 

'officer' of EHA within the meaning of the WHS Act); and 

l) exercise, perform or discharge other powers, functions or duties 

conferred on the Chief Executive Officer by the charter, and to perform 

other functions lawfully directed by EHA; 

m) such other functions as may be specified in the terms and conditions 

of appointment of the Chief Executive Officer. 

4.4. Acting Chief Executive Officer 

a) Where an absence of the Chief Executive Officer is foreseen, the 

Chief Executive Officer may appoint a suitable person to act as Chief 

Executive Officer.  

b) If the Chief Executive Officer does not make or is incapable of making 

an appointment under clause a), a suitable person will be appointed 

by EHA. 
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5. STAFF OF EHA 

a) EHA may employ any staff required for the fulfilment of its functions.   

b) The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for appointing, managing, 

suspending and dismissing the other employees of EHA (on behalf 

of EHA).  

  

c) The Chief Executive Officer must ensure that an appointment under 

this clause is consistent with strategic policies and budgets 

approved by EHA.  

d) The Chief Executive Officer must, in acting under this clause comply 

with any relevant Act, award or industrial agreement.  

e) Suspension of an employee by the Chief Executive Officer does not 

affect a right to remuneration in respect of the period of suspension.  

6. REGIONAL PUBLIC HEALTH PLAN 

6.1. Implementation of a Regional Public Health Plan 

EHA is responsible for undertaking any strategy and for attaining any priority or 

goal which the Regional Public Health Plan specifies as EHA's responsibility. 

6.2. Review 

EHA will, in conjunction with the Constituent Councils, review the Regional 

Public Health Plan every five years or at shorter time intervals as directed by the 

Constituent Councils. 

6.3. Reporting 

a) EHA will on a biennial basis, on behalf of the Constituent Councils, 

coordinate the preparation of a draft report that contains a 

comprehensive assessment of the extent to which, during the 

reporting period, EHA and the Constituent Councils have succeeded 

in implementing the Regional Public Health Plan. 

b) EHA will comply with guidelines issued by the Chief Public Health 

Officer in respect of the preparation of reports on regional public 

health plans. 

c) EHA will submit the draft report to the Chief Public Health Officer on 

behalf of the constituent councils as required.  
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7. FUNDING AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

7.1. Financial management 

a) EHA shall keep proper books of account.  Books of account must be 

available for inspection by any Board Member or authorised 

representative of any Constituent Council at any reasonable time on 

request. 

b) EHA must meet the obligations set out in the Local Government 

(Financial Management) Regulations 2011 (SA). 

c) The Chief Executive Officer must act prudently in the handling of all 

financial transactions for EHA and must provide financial reports to the 

Board at its meetings and if requested, the Constituent Councils. 

7.2. Bank account 

a) EHA must establish and maintain a bank account with such banking 

facilities and at a bank to be determined by the Board. 

b) All cheques must be signed by two persons authorised by resolution 

of the Board. 

c) Any payments made by electronic funds transfer must be made in 

accordance with procedures approved by the external auditor. 

7.3. Budget 

a) EHA must prepare a proposed budget for each financial year in 

accordance with clause 25, Schedule 2 to the Act. 

b) The proposed budget must be referred to the Board at its April meeting 

and to the Chief Executive Officers of the Constituent Councils by 30 

April each year. 

c) A Constituent Council may comment in writing to EHA on the 

proposed budget by 31 May each year. 

d) EHA must, after 31 May but before the end of June in each financial 

year, finalise and adopt an annual budget for the ensuing financial 

year in accordance with clause 25, Schedule 2 to the Act. 

7.4. Funding contributions 

a) Constituent Councils shall be liable to contribute monies to EHA each 

financial year for its proper operation. 

b) The contribution to be paid by a Constituent Council for any financial 

year shall be determined by calculating the Constituent Council’s 

proportion of EHA’s overall activities in accordance with the Funding 

Contribution Calculation Formula (see Schedule 1). 
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c) Constituent Council contributions shall be paid in two equal 

instalments due respectively on 1 July and 1 January each year.   

d) The method of determining contributions can be changed with the 

written approval of not less than two thirds of the Constituent Councils.  

Where the method for calculating contributions is changed, the 

revised methodology will apply from the date determined by not less 

than two thirds of the Constituent Councils. 

e) If a council becomes a new Constituent Council after the first day of 

July in any financial year, the contribution payable by that council for 

that year will be calculated on the basis of the number of whole 

months (or part thereof) remaining in that year. 

7.5. Financial reporting 

a) The Board shall present a balance sheet and the audited financial 

statements for the immediately previous financial year to the 

Constituent Councils by 31 August each year. 

b) The financial year for EHA is 1 July of a year to 30 June in the 

subsequent year. 

7.6. Audit 

a) The Board shall appoint an external auditor in accordance with the 

Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 (SA). 

b) The audit of financial statements of EHA, together with the 

accompanying report from the external auditor, shall be submitted to 

the Chief Executive Officer and the Board.  

c) The books of account and financial statements shall be audited at 

least once per year. 

d) EHA will maintain an audit committee as required by, and to fulfil the 

functions set out in, clause 30, Schedule 2 to the Act. 

7.7. Liability 

The liabilities incurred and assumed by EHA are guaranteed by all Constituent 

Councils in the proportions specified in the Funding Contribution Calculation 

Formula. 

7.8. Insolvency 

In the event of EHA becoming insolvent, the Constituent Councils will be 

responsible for all liabilities of EHA in proportion to the percentage contribution 

calculated for each Constituent Council for the financial year prior to the year of 

the insolvency.   
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7.9. Insurance and superannuation requirements 

a) EHA shall register with the LGA Mutual Liability Scheme and comply 

with the rules of that scheme. 

b) EHA shall register with the LGA Asset Mutual Fund or otherwise advise 

the Local Government Risk Services of its insurance requirements 

relating to local government special risks in respect of buildings, 

structures, vehicles and equipment under the management, care and 

control of EHA. 

c) As an employer, EHA shall register with Statewide Super and the LGA 

Workers Compensation Scheme and comply with the rules of those 

schemes. 

8. BUSINESS PLAN 

8.1. Contents of the Business Plan 

a) EHA must each year develop in accordance with this clause a 

business plan which supports and informs its annual budget.  

b) In addition to the requirements for the Business Plan set out in clause 

24(6) of Schedule 2 to the Act, the Business Plan will include:  

(a) a description of how EHA's functions relate to the delivery of the 

Regional Public Health Plan and the Business Plan; 

(b) financial estimates of revenue and expenditure necessary for 

the delivery of the Regional Public Health Plan;  

(c) performance targets which EHA is to pursue in respect of the 

Regional Public Health Plan.  

c) A draft of the Business Plan will be provided to the Constituent 

Councils for the endorsement of the majority of those councils. 

d) The Board must provide a copy of the adopted annual Business Plan 

and budget to the Chief Executive Officers of each Constituent Council 

within five business days of its adoption.   

8.2. Review and assessment against the Business Plan 

a) The Board must: 

(a) compare the achievement of the Business Plan against 

performance targets for EHA at least once every financial year; 

(b) in consultation with the Constituent Councils review the 

contents of the Business Plan on an annual basis; and 

(c) consult with the Constituent Councils prior to amending the 

Business Plan. 
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b) EHA must submit to the Constituent Councils, by 30 September each 

year in respect of the immediately preceding financial year, an annual 

report on the work and operations of EHA detailing achievement of the 

aims and objectives of its Business Plan and incorporating any other 

information or report as required by the Constituent Councils. 

9. MEMBERSHIP 

9.1. New Members 

The charter may be amended by the unanimous agreement of the Constituent 

Councils and the approval of the Minister to provide for the admission of a new 

Constituent Council or Councils, with or without conditions of membership. 

9.2. Withdrawal of a member 

a) Subject to any legislative requirements, including but not limited to 

ministerial approval, a Constituent Council may resign from EHA at 

any time by giving a minimum 24 months notice to take effect from 30 

June in the financial year after which the notice period has expired, 

unless otherwise agreed by unanimous resolution of the other 

Constituent Councils. 

b) Valid notice for the purposes of clause a) is notice in writing given to 

the Chief Executive Officer and each of the Constituent Councils. 

c) The withdrawal of any Constituent Council does not extinguish the 

liability of that Constituent Council to contribute to any loss or liability 

incurred by EHA at any time before or after such withdrawal in respect 

of any act or omission by EHA prior to such withdrawal. 

d) Payment of monies outstanding under the charter, by or to the 

withdrawing Constituent Council must be fully paid by 30 June of the 

financial year following 30 June of the year in which the withdrawal 

occurs unless there is a unanimous agreement as to alternative 

payment arrangements by the Constituent Councils.   

e) The withdrawing Constituent Council is to reimburse EHA for any 

operating costs incurred as a direct result of the withdrawal. 

f) The withdrawing Constituent Council is not automatically entitled  to 

any retained equity upon exit, and any financial distribution shall be 

unanimously agreed by the remaining Constituent Councils. 

10. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

a) The procedure in this clause must be applied to any dispute that arises 

between EHA and a Constituent Council concerning the affairs of EHA, 
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or between the Constituent Councils concerning the affairs of EHA, 

including a dispute as to the meaning or effect of the charter and 

whether the dispute concerns a claim in common law, equity or under 

statute. 

b) EHA and a Constituent Council must continue to observe the charter 

and perform its respective functions despite a dispute. 

c) This clause does not prejudice the right of a party: 

(a) to require the continuing observance and performance of the 

charter by all parties: or 

(b) to institute proceedings to enforce payment due under the 

charter or to seek injunctive relief to prevent immediate and 

irreparable harm. 

d) Subject to clause c), pending completion of the procedure set out in 

clauses e) to i), a dispute must not be the subject of legal proceedings 

between any of the parties in dispute.  If legal proceedings are initiated 

or continued in breach of this clause, a party to the dispute is entitled 

to apply for and be granted an order of the court adjourning those 

proceedings pending completion of the procedure set out in this 

clause 10. 

e) Step 1:  Notice of dispute:  A party to the dispute must promptly notify 

each other party to the dispute of: 

(a) the nature of the dispute, giving reasonable details;  

(b) what action (if any) the party giving notice seeks to resolve the 

dispute. 

A failure to give notice under this clause e) does not entitle any other 

party to damages. 

f) Step 2:  Request for a meeting of the parties:  A party providing notice 

of a dispute under clause e) may at the same or a later time notify 

each other party to the dispute that the notifying party requires a 

meeting within 14 business days.   

g) Step 3:  Meeting of senior managers:  Where a meeting is requested 

under clause f), a senior manager of each party must attend a meeting 

with the Board in good faith to attempt to resolve the dispute.  

h) Step 4:  Meeting of chief executive officers:  Where a meeting of 

senior managers held under clause g) fails to resolve the dispute, the 

chief executive officers of EHA and each of the Constituent Councils 

must attend a meeting in good faith to attempt to resolve the dispute. 
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i) Step 5: Mediation:  If the meeting held under clause h) fails to resolve 

the dispute, then the dispute may be referred to mediation by any party 

to the dispute.  

j) Where a dispute is referred to mediation under clause i): 

(a) the mediator must be a person agreed by the parties in dispute 

or, if they cannot agree within 14 days, a mediator nominated 

by the President of the South Australian Bar Association (or 

equivalent office of any successor organisation); 

(b) the role of the mediator is to assist in negotiating a resolution 

of a dispute; 

(c) a mediator may not make a decision binding on a party unless 

the parties agree to be so bound either at the time the mediator 

is appointed or subsequently; 

(d) the mediation will occur at EHA's principal office or any other 

convenient location agreed by both parties; 

(e) a party is not required to spend more than the equivalent of one 

business day in mediation of a dispute; 

(f) each party to a dispute will cooperate in arranging and 

expediting the mediation, including by providing information in 

the possession or control of the party reasonably sought by the 

mediator in relation to the dispute; 

(g) each party will send a senior manager authorised to resolve the 

dispute to the mediation; 

(h) the mediator may exclude lawyers acting for the parties in 

dispute; 

(i) the mediator may retain persons to provide expert assistance 

to the mediator; 

(j) a party in dispute may withdraw from mediation if in the 

reasonable opinion of that party, the mediator is not acting in 

confidence or with good faith, or is acting for a purpose other 

than resolving the dispute; 

(k) unless otherwise agreed in writing: 

(i) everything that occurs before the mediator is in 

confidence and in closed session; 

(ii) discussions (including admissions and concessions) are 

without prejudice and may not be called into evidence in 

any subsequent legal proceedings by a party; 
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(iii) documents brought into existence specifically for the 

purpose of the mediation may not be admitted in 

evidence in any subsequent legal proceedings by a party; 

and 

(iv) the parties in dispute must report back to the mediator 

within 14 days on actions taken based on the outcomes 

of the mediation; and 

(l) each party to the dispute must bear its own costs in respect of 

the mediation, plus an equal share of the costs and expenses 

of the mediator. 

11. WINDING UP 

a) EHA may be wound up by the Minister acting upon a unanimous 

resolution of the Constituent Councils or by the Minister in accordance 

with clause 33(1)(b), Schedule 2 of the Act. 

b) In the event of EHA being wound up, any surplus assets after payment 

of all expenses shall be returned to the Constituent Councils in the 

proportions specified in the Funding Contribution Calculation Formula 

prior to the passing of the resolution to wind up. 

c) If there are insufficient funds to pay all expenses due by EHA on 

winding up, a levy shall be imposed on all Constituent Councils in the 

proportion determined under the Funding Contribution Calculation 

Formula prior to the passing of the resolution to wind up. 

12. MISCELLANEOUS 

12.1. Action by the Constituent Councils 

The obligations of EHA under the charter do not derogate from the power of the 

Constituent Councils to jointly act in any manner prudent to the sound 

management and operation of EHA, provided that the Constituent Councils 

have first agreed by resolution of each Constituent Council as to the action to 

be taken. 

12.2. Direction by the Constituent Councils 

Any direction given to EHA by the Constituent Councils must be jointly given by 

the Constituent Councils to the Board of EHA by a notice or notices in writing. 

12.3. Alteration and review of charter 

a) The charter will be reviewed by the Constituent Councils acting jointly 

at least once in every four years. 
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b) The charter can only be amended by unanimous resolution of the 

Constituent Councils.   

c) Notice of a proposed alteration to the charter must be given by the 

Chief Executive Officer to all Constituent Councils at least four weeks 

prior to the Council meeting at which the alteration is proposed. 

d) The Chief Executive Officer must ensure that a copy of the charter, as 

amended, is published on a website (or websites) determined by the 

Chief Executive Officers of the Constituent Councils, a notice of the fact 

of the amendment and a website address at which the charter is 

available for inspection is published in the Gazette and a copy of the 

charter, as amended, is provided to the Minister.  

 

12.4. Access to information 

A Constituent Council and a Board Member each has a right to inspect and take 

copies of the books and records of EHA for any proper purpose. 

 

12.5. Circumstances not provided for 

a) If any circumstances arise about which the charter is silent or which 

are, incapable of taking effect or being implemented the Board or the 

Chief Executive Officer may decide the action to be taken to ensure 

achievement of the objects of EHA and its effective administration. 

b) Where the Chief Executive Officer acts in accordance with clause a) 

he or she shall report that decision at the next Board meeting. 

 

12.6. Civil liability Protection for Subsidiary employees 

a) No civil liability attaches to an employee of EHA for an honest act or 

omission in the exercise performance or discharge or purported 

exercise performance or discharge of powers functions and duties of 

the employee under the Local Government Act 1999 or any other Act.  

b) EHA must indemnify its employees against any civil liability incurred 

by the employee of for an honest act or omission in the exercise, 

performance or discharge, or purported exercise, performance or 

discharge, of powers, functions or duties under the Local Government 

Act 1999 or any other Act. 
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12.7      Register of Salaries 

a)    The chief executive officer of EHA will ensure that a record (the 

Register of Salaries) is kept in which is entered—  

(a)       the title of each position held by an employee of EHA; and  

(b)       in relation to those positions held by employees who are paid 

according to salary scales set out in an award or industrial 

agreement—  

(a)  the classifications of the employees who hold those 

positions; and  

(b)  the salary scales applicable to each classification 

(indicating in relation to each scale the number of 

employees who are paid according to that scale); and  

(c)  details of other allowances or benefits paid or payable to, 

or provided for the benefit of, any of those employees as 

part of a salary package; and  

(c)       in relation to each position held by an employee who is not 

paid according to a salary scale set out in an award or 

industrial agreement referred to above—  

(a)    the salary payable to the employee who holds that 

position; and  

(b)    details of other allowances and benefits paid or payable 

to, or provided for the benefit of, the employee as part of 

a remuneration package.  

b)    The Chief Executive Officer of EHA must ensure that a record is made in the 

Register of Salaries within 28 days after—  

(a)     a change in the salary, wage or remuneration, or an 

allowance or benefit, payable to, or provided for the 

benefit of, an employee; or  

(b)     the payment or provision of an allowance or benefit not 

previously recorded in the Register, (insofar as may be 

necessary or appropriate in the circumstances of the 

particular case).  
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c)    The Chief Executive Officer of EHA is not required to include in a Register of 

Salaries details of any reimbursement of expenses incurred by an 

employee in performing official duties unless that reimbursement occurs by 

way of the periodic payment of a lump sum that is not calculated so as to 

provide exact reimbursement of expenses incurred by an employee in 

performing official duties. 

d) The Chief Executive Officer of EHA must provide the Register of Salaries to 

the Chief Executive Officers of the Constituent Councils within 60 days of 30 

June in each year. 

 

12.8     Register of Gifts   

The clause below has been developed requiring EHA to publish on its website a 

Register of Gifts and benefits. 

(a) The provisions regarding gift and benefits applying to employees of a council 

apply to employees of EHA as if EHA were a council and the employees of 

EHA were employees of a council. 

(b) The Chief Executive Officer of EHA must publish the register of gifts and 

benefits on a website determined by the Chief Executive Officer of EHA. 
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13. INTERPRETATION 

13.1. Glossary 

Term Definition 

Act Local Government Act 1999 (SA) 

Board board of management of EHA 

Board Member a member of EHA board appointed for the 

purposes of clause 2.2 of the charter. 

Business Plan a business plan compiled in accordance with 

part 8 of the charter  

Chief Executive Officer The Chief Executive Officer of EHA 

Chief Public Health Officer the officer of that name appointed under the 

SA Public Health Act 

Constituent Council a council listed in clause 1.2 of the charter or 

admitted under clause 9.1. 

EHA Eastern Health Authority  

Funding Contribution 

Calculation Formula 

the formula set out in Schedule 1 to the 

charter. 

LGA Local Government Association of SA 

LGA Asset Mutual Fund means the fund of that name provided by 

Local Government Risk Services 

LGA Mutual Liability 

Scheme 

means the scheme of that name conducted 

by the LGA. 

LGA Workers 

Compensation Scheme 

a business unit of the Local Government 

Association of South Australia. 

Minister South Australian Minister for Health and 

Aging 

Periodic Election has the meaning given in the Local 

Government (Elections) Act 1999 (SA). 
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Public Health Authority 

Partner 

is an entity prescribed or declared to be a 

public health authority partner pursuant to 

the SA Public Health Act 

Regional Public Health Plan the plan prepared under part 6 of the charter 

for the areas of the Constituent Councils. 

SA Public Health Act South Australian Public Health Act 2011 (SA) 

State Public Health Plan means the plan of that name under the SA 

Public Health Act 

Statewide Super Statewide Superannuation Pty Ltd ABN 62 

008 099 223 

Supported Residential 

Facility 

has the meaning given in the Supported 

Residential Facilities Act 1992 (SA). 

 

13.2. Interpreting the charter 

a) The charter will come into effect on the date it is published in the South 

Australian Government Gazette. 

b) The charter supersedes previous charters of the Eastern Health 

Authority.   

c) The charter must be read in conjunction with Schedule 2 to the Act.   

d) EHA shall conduct its affairs in accordance with Schedule 2 to the Act 

except as modified by the charter as permitted by Schedule 2 to the 

Act. 

e) Despite any other provision in the charter: 

(a) if the Act prohibits a thing being done, the thing may not be done; 

(b) if the Act requires a thing to be done, that thing must be done; 

and 

(c) if a provision of the charter is or becomes inconsistent with the 

Act, that provision must be read down or failing that severed from 

the charter to the extent of the inconsistency. 
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Schedule 1 – Funding Contribution Calculation Formula 

 

The funding contribution required from each Constituent Council is based on an 

estimated proportion of EHA’s overall activities occurring within its respective area.  

 

The estimated proportion is determined using the Funding Contribution Calculation 

Formula which is detailed on the following page. 

 

In the formula, activities conducted by EHA on behalf of Constituent Councils have been 

weighted according to their estimated proportion of overall activities (see table below). 

 

It should be noted that the weighted proportion allocated to administration is divided 

evenly between the Constituent Councils. 

 

A calculation of each Constituent Councils proportion of resources used for a range of 

different activities is made. This occurs annually during the budget development process 

and is based on the best available data from the preceding year. 

 

The formula determines the overall proportion of estimated use for each council by 

applying the weighting to each activity.  

 

Activity Weighted % of Activities 

Administration – (5% Fixed and 7.5% Variable) 12.5% 

Food Safety Activity 35.0% 

Environmental Health Complaints 7.0% 

Supported Residential Facilities 6.5% 

Cooling Towers 6.5% 

Skin Penetration 0.5% 

Swimming Pools 2% 

Number of Year 8 & 9 Enrolments 15.0% 

Number of clients attending clinics 15.0% 

Total 100% 
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Activity Description Code Activity 

weighting 

Constituent 

Council -1 

Constituent 

Council - 2  

Constituent 

Council - 3 

Constituent 

Council - 4 

Constituent 

Council - 5 

Total 

Administration – Fixed Allocation 

 

A1 5% 5%/ CC 5%/ CC 5%/ CC 5%/ CC 5%/ CC 5% 

Administration – Variable Allocation  

 

A2 7.5% (Sum B-I / 87.5%) 

x 7.5% 

(Sum B-I / 87.5%) 

x 7.5% 

(Sum B-I / 87.5%) 

x 7.5% 

(Sum B-I / 87.5%) 

x 7.5% 

(Sum B-I / 87.5%) 

x 7.5% 

7.5% 

Food Safety Activity. 

 

B 35% (N/B) x AW (N/B) x AW (N/B) x AW (N/B) x AW (N/B) x AW 35% 

Environmental Health Complaints  

 

C 7% (N/C) x AW (N/C) x AW (N/C) x AW (N/C) x AW (N/C) x AW 7% 

Supported Residential Facilities. 

 

D 6.5% (N/D) x AW (N/D) x AW (N/D) x AW (N/D) x AW (N/D) x AW 6.5% 

High Risk Manufactured Water 

Systems 

 

E 6.5% (N/E) x AW (N/E) x AW (N/E) x AW (N/E) x AW (N/E) x AW 6.5% 

Skin Penetration 

 

F 0.5% (N/F) x AW (N/F) x AW (N/F) x AW (N/F) x AW (N/F) x AW 0.5% 

Public Access Swimming Pools. 

 

G 2% (N/G) x AW (N/G) x AW (N/G) x AW (N/G) x AW (N/G) x AW 2% 

School enrolments vaccinated  

 

H 15.0% (N/H) x AW (N/H) x AW (N/H) x AW (N/H) x AW (N/H) x AW 15.0% 

Clients attending public clinics 

. 

I 15.0% (N/I) x AW (N/I) x AW (N/I) x AW (N/I) x AW (N/I) x AW 15.0% 

Total Proportion of contribution   Sum A-I Sum A-I Sum A-I Sum A-I Sum A-I 100% 

 
N    =  Number in Constituent Council area. 

B through to I  =  Total number in all Constituent Councils. 

AW   =  Activity weighting. 

CC   = Number of Constituent Councils (example provided uses five (5) Constituent Councils) 
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	1. EASTERN HEALTH AUTHORITY
	1.1. Regional subsidiary
	1.2. Constituent Councils
	a) City of Norwood Payneham & St Peters;
	b) City of Burnside;
	c) Campbelltown City Council;
	d) City of Prospect; and
	e) The Corporation of the Town of Walkerville,

	1.3. Preamble
	The field of Environmental health continues to increase in complexity and diversity, making it difficult for small to medium size councils to attract and retain staff who are experienced and fully skilled across the legislative demands placed on Local...
	EHA’s size, structure and sole focus on environmental health puts it in an ideal position to provide high quality, specialist services to the community on behalf of its Constituent Councils.  This in turn ensures Constituent Councils are meeting their...
	1.4. Purpose
	1.5. Functions
	For, or in connection with its purpose, EHA may undertake the following functions:
	a) take action to preserve, protect and promote public and environmental health within the area of the Constituent Councils;
	b) cooperate with other authorities involved in the administration of public and environmental health;
	c) promote and monitor public and environmental health whether in or, so far as the Act and the charter allows, outside the area of the Constituent Councils;
	d) assist the Constituent Councils to mee  t their legislative responsibilities in accordance with the SA Public Health Act, the Food Act 2001 (SA), the Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992 (SA), the Expiation of Offences Act 1996 (SA), the Housi...
	e) establish objectives and policy priorities for the promotion and protection of public and environmental health within the areas of the Constituent Councils;
	f) provide immunisation programs for the protection of public health within the areas of the Constituent Councils or to ensure that such programs are provided;
	g) promote and monitor standards of hygiene and sanitation;
	h) promote and monitor food safety standards;
	i) identify risks to public and environmental health within the areas of the Constituent Councils;
	j) monitor and regulate communicable and infectious disease control;
	k) licence and monitor standards in Supported Residential Facilities;
	l) ensure that remedial action is taken to reduce or eliminate adverse impacts or risks to public and environmental health;
	m) provide, or support the provision of, educational information about public and environmental health and provide or support activities within the areas of the Constituent Councils to preserve, protect or promote public health;
	n) keep the Constituent Councils abreast of any emerging opportunities, trends and issues in public and environmental health; and
	o) any other functions described in the Charter or assigned by the Constituent Councils to EHA consistent with EHA's purpose.

	1.6. Powers
	a) enter into contracts or arrangements with any government agency or authority, or councils, including the Constituent Councils;
	b) appoint, employ, remunerate, remove or suspend officers, managers, employees and agents;
	c) enter into contracts with any person for the acquisition or provision of goods and services;
	d) receive financial contributions from the Constituent Councils;
	e) publish information;
	f) acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of any real or personal property, subject to the requirements of the Constituent Councils;
	g) open and operate bank accounts;
	h) acquire funds for the purpose of its functions or operations by entering into loan agreements;
	i) invest any of the funds of EHA in any investment with the LGA Finance Authority, provided that in exercising this power of investment EHA must:
	(a) exercise the care, diligence and skill that a prudent person of business would exercise in managing the affairs of other persons; and
	(b) avoid investments that are speculative or hazardous in nature;

	j) raise revenue by applying for grants and other funding from the State of South Australia or the Commonwealth of Australia and their respective agencies or instrumentalities on behalf of the Constituent Councils or on its own behalf.

	1.7. Area of activity
	a) EHA may undertake an activity, including in relation to one or more of its functions and powers set out in clauses 1.5 and 1.6  outside the area of the Constituent Councils where that activity has been approved by  a  resolution supported unanimous...
	(a) the relevant  activity being included in the EHA business plan;
	(b) there being no material impact on EHA’s ability to undertake its functions set out in clause 1.5;
	(c) the relevant activity is determined to have a positive impact on EHA and its Constituent Council;
	(d) EHA obtaining the concurrence of the Chief Executive Officers of the Constituent Councils to EHA undertaking the relevant activity .


	1.8. Common seal
	a) EHA shall have a common seal upon which its corporate name shall appear in legible characters.
	b) The common seal shall be kept in the custody of the Chief Executive Officer or such other person as EHA may from time to time decide.


	2. BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
	2.1. Functions
	a) take all reasonable and practicable steps to ensure that EHA acts in accordance with the Charter;
	b) formulate plans and strategies aimed at improving the activities of EHA;
	c) provide input and policy direction to EHA;
	d) monitor, oversee and evaluate the performance of the Chief Executive Officer;
	e) ensure that ethical behaviour and integrity is maintained in all activities undertaken by EHA;
	f) subject to clause 3.10, ensure that the activities of EHA are undertaken in an open and transparent manner;
	g) participate in the development of the Business Plan, and
	h) exercise the care, diligence and skill that a prudent person of business would exercise in managing the affairs of other persons.

	2.2. Membership of the Board
	a) Each Constituent Council must appoint:
	(a) one elected member; and
	(b) one other person who may be an officer, employee or elected member of that Constituent Council or an independent person,


	to be Board members and may at any time revoke these appointments and appoint other persons on behalf of that Constituent Council.
	b) A Board Member shall be appointed for the term of office specified in the instrument of appointment, and at the expiration of the term of office will be eligible for re-appointment by the Constituent Council that appointed that Board Member.
	c) Each Constituent Council must give notice in writing to EHA of the persons it has appointed as Board Members and of any revocation of any of those appointments.
	d) Any person authorised by a Constituent Council may attend (but not participate in) a Board meeting and may have access to papers provided to Board Members for the purpose of the meeting.
	e) The provisions regarding the office of a board member becoming vacant as prescribed in the Act apply to all Board Members.
	f) Where the office of a board member becomes vacant, the relevant Constituent Council will appoint another person as a Board member for the balance of the original term or such other term as the Constituent Council determines.
	g) The Board may by a two thirds majority vote of the Board Members present (excluding the Board Member who is the subject of a recommendation under this clause g)) make a recommendation to the relevant Constituent Council requesting that the Constitu...
	(a) any behaviour of the Board Member which in the opinion of the Board amounts to impropriety;
	(b) serious neglect of duty in attending to their responsibilities as a Board Member;
	(c) breach of fiduciary duty to EHA, a Constituent Council or the Constituent Councils;
	(d) breach of the duty of confidentiality to EHA, a Constituent Council or the Constituent Councils;
	(e) breach of the conflict of interest provisions of the Act; or
	(f) any other behaviour that may, in the opinion of the Board, discredit EHA a Constituent Council or the Constituent Councils.

	h) The members of the Board shall not be entitled to receive any remuneration in respect of their appointment as a Board Member including their attendance at meetings of the Board or on any other business of the EHA.

	2.3. Conduct of Board Members
	a) Subject to clauses 20(6) and 20(7), Schedule 2 to the Act, the provisions regarding conflict of interest prescribed in the Act apply to Board Members.
	b) Board Members are not required to comply with Division 2, Part 4, Chapter 5 (Register of Interests) of the Act.
	c) Board Members must at all times act in accordance with their duties under the Act.

	2.4. Board policies and codes
	a) EHA must ensure that appropriate policies, practices and procedures are implemented and maintained in order to:
	(a) ensure compliance with any statutory requirements; and
	(b) achieve and maintain standards of good public administration.

	b) EHA will adopt a  code of conduct for Board Members.
	c) The Board must, as far as it is reasonable and practicable, ensure that EHA’s policies are complied with in the conduct of the affairs of EHA and are reviewed at regular intervals to be determined by the Board on the recommendation of the audit com...
	d) The audit committee will develop a schedule for the periodic review of EHA policies by 30 June each year and provide this to the Board for approval.

	2.5. Chair of the Board
	a) A Chair and Deputy Chair shall be elected at the first meeting of the Board after a Periodic Election.
	b) The Chair and Deputy Chair shall hold office for a period of one year from the date of the election by the Board.
	c) Where there is more than one nomination for the position of Chair or Deputy Chair, the election shall be decided by ballot.
	d) Both the Chair and Deputy Chair shall be eligible for re-election to their respective offices at the end of the relevant one year term.
	e) If the Chair should cease to be a Board Member, or resign their position as chair, the Deputy Chair may act as the Chair until the election of a new Chair.
	f) In the event the Chair is absent the Deputy Chair shall act as the Chair.

	2.6. Powers of the Chair and Deputy Chair
	a) The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Board and, in the event of the Chair being absent from a meeting, the Deputy Chair shall preside.  In the event of the Chair and Deputy Chair being absent from a meeting, the Board Members present shal...
	b) The Chair and the Deputy Chair individually or collectively shall have such powers as may be decided by EHA.

	2.7. Committees
	a) EHA may establish a committee for the purpose of:
	(a) enquiring into and reporting to the Board on any matter within EHA’s functions and powers and as detailed in the terms of reference given by the Board to the committee; or
	(b) exercising, performing or discharging delegated powers, functions or duties.

	b) A member of a committee established under this clause holds office at the pleasure of EHA.
	c) The Chair of the Board is an ex-officio member of any committee established by EHA.


	3. MEETINGS OF THE BOARD
	3.1. Ordinary meetings
	a) Ordinary meetings of the Board will take place at such times and places as may be fixed by the Board or where there are no meetings fixed by the Board, by the Chief Executive Officer in consultation with the Chair from time to time, so that there a...
	b) Notice of ordinary meetings of the Board must be given by the Chief Executive Officer to each Board Member and the Chief Executive Officer of each Constituent Council at least three clear days prior to the holding of the meeting.

	3.2. Special meetings
	a) Any two Board Members may by delivering a written request to the Chief Executive Officer require a special meeting of the Board to be held.
	b) The request must be accompanied by the proposed agenda for the meeting and any written reports intended to be considered at the meeting (if the proposed agenda is not provided the request is of no effect).
	c) On receipt of the request, the Chief Executive Officer must send a notice of the special meeting to all Board Members and Chief Executive Officers of the Constituent Councils at least four hours prior to the commencement of the special meeting.
	d) The Chair may convene special meetings of the Board at the Chair's discretion without complying with the notice requirements prescribed in clause 3.4 provided always that there is a minimum four hours notice given to Board members.

	3.3. Telephone or video conferencing
	a) Special meetings of the Board convened under clause 3.2 may occur by electronic means in accordance with procedures determine by the EHA Board of Management and provided that at least a quorum is present at all times.

	3.4. Notice of meetings
	a) Except where clause 3.2 applies, notice of Board meetings must be given in accordance with this clause.
	b) Notice of any meeting of the Board must:
	(a) be in writing;
	(b) set out the date, time and place of the meeting;
	(c) be signed by the Chief Executive Officer;
	(d) contain, or be accompanied by, the agenda for the meeting; and
	(e) be accompanied by a copy of any document or report that is to be considered at the meeting (as far as this is practicable).

	c) Notice under clause b) may be given to a Board Member:
	(a) personally;
	(b) by delivering the notice (whether by post or otherwise) to the usual place of residence of the Board Member or to another place authorised in writing by the Board Member;
	(c) electronically via email to an email address approved by the Board Member;
	(d) by leaving the notice at the principal office of the Constituent Council which appointed the Board Member; or
	(e) by a means authorised in writing by the Board Member being an available means of giving notice.

	d) A notice that is not given in accordance with clause c) will be taken to have been validly given if the Chief Executive Officer considers it impracticable to give the notice in accordance with that clause and takes action that the Chief Executive O...
	e) The Chief Executive Officer may indicate on a document or report provided to Board Members that any information or matter contained in or arising from the document or report is confidential until such time as the Board determines whether the docume...

	3.5. Minutes
	a) The Chief Executive Officer must cause minutes to be kept of the proceedings at every meeting of the Board.
	b) Where the Chief Executive Officer is excluded from attendance at a meeting of the Board pursuant to clause 3.10.b), the person presiding at the meeting shall cause the minutes to be kept.

	3.6. Quorum
	a) A quorum of Board Members is constituted by dividing the total number of Board Members for the time being in office by two, ignoring any fraction resulting from the division and adding one.
	b) No business will be transacted at a meeting unless a quorum is present .

	3.7. Meeting procedure
	a) EHA may determine its own procedures for the conduct of its meetings provided they are not inconsistent with the Act or the charter.
	b) Meeting procedures determined by EHA must be documented and be made available to the public.
	c) Where the Board has not determined a procedure to address a particular circumstance, the provisions of Part 2 of the Local Government (Procedures at Meetings) Regulations 2000 (SA) shall apply.

	3.8. Voting
	a) Board Members including the Chair, shall have a deliberative vote.  The Chair shall not in the event of a tied vote, have a second or casting vote.
	b) All matters will be decided by simple majority of votes of the Board Members present.  In the event of a tied vote the matter will lapse.
	c) Each Board Member present at a meeting, including Board Members attending a meeting by electronic means must vote on a question arising for decision at the meeting.

	3.9. Circular resolutions
	A valid decision of the Board may be obtained by a proposed resolution in writing given to all Board Members in accordance with procedures determined by the Board, and a resolution made in accordance with such procedures is as valid and effectual as i...

	3.10. Meetings to be held in public except in special circumstances
	a) Subject to this clause, meetings of EHA must be conducted in a place open to the public.
	b) EHA may order that the public be excluded from attendance at any meeting in accordance with the procedure under sections 90(2) and 90(3) of the Act.
	c) An order made under clause b) must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting including describing the grounds on which the order was made.

	3.11. Public inspection of documents
	a) Subject to clause c), a person is entitled to inspect, without payment of a fee:
	(a) minutes of a Board Meeting;
	(b) reports received by the Board Meeting; and
	(c) recommendations presented to the Board in writing and adopted by resolution of the Board.

	b) Subject to clause c), a person is entitled, on payment to the Board of a fee fixed by the Board, to obtain a copy of any documents available for inspection under clause a).
	c) Clauses a) and b) do not apply in relation to a document or part of a document if:
	(a) the document or part of the document relates to a matter of a kind considered by the Board in confidence under clause 3.10.b); and
	(b) the Board orders that the document or part of the document be kept confidential (provided that in so ordering the Board must specify the duration of the order or the circumstances in which it will cease to apply or a period after which it must be ...


	3.12. Saving provision
	a) No act or proceeding of EHA is invalid by reason of:
	(a) a vacancy or vacancies in the membership of the Board; or
	(b) a defect in the appointment of a Board Member.



	4. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
	4.1. Appointment
	a) EHA shall appoint a Chief Executive Officer to manage the business of EHA on a fixed term performance based employment contract, which does not exceed five years in duration.
	b) At the expiry of a Chief Executive Officer's contract, the Board may reappoint the same person as Chief Executive Officer on a new contract of no greater than five years duration.

	4.2. Responsibilities
	a) The Chief Executive Officer is responsible to EHA for the execution of decisions taken by EHA and for the efficient and effective management of the affairs of EHA.
	b) The Chief Executive Officer shall cause records to be kept of all activities and financial affairs of EHA in accordance with the charter, in addition to other duties provided for by the charter and those specified in the terms and conditions of app...

	4.3. Functions of the Chief Executive Officer
	a) ensure that the policies, procedures, codes of conduct and any lawful decisions of EHA are implemented and promulgated in a timely and efficient manner;
	b) undertake responsibility for the day to day operations and affairs of EHA;
	c) provide advice, assistance and reports to EHA through the Board in the exercise and performance of its powers and functions under the charter and the Act;
	d) initiate and co-ordinate proposals for consideration by EHA for developing objectives, policies and programs for the Constituent Council areas;
	e) provide information to EHA to assist EHA to assess performance against EHA plans;
	f) ensure that timely and accurate information about EHA policies and programs is regularly provided to the communities of the Constituent Councils;
	g) ensure that appropriate and prompt responses are given to specific requests for information made to EHA and, where appropriate, the Constituent Councils;
	h) ensure that the assets and resources of EHA are properly managed and maintained;
	i) maintain records that EHA and the Constituent Councils are required to maintain under the charter, the Act or another Act in respect of EHA;
	j) ensure sound principles of human resource management, health and safety to the employment of staff by EHA, including the principles listed in section 107(2) of the Act;
	k) ensure compliance with the obligations under Work Health and Safety Act 2012 (SA) of both EHA and the Chief Executive Officer (as an 'officer' of EHA within the meaning of the WHS Act); and
	l) exercise, perform or discharge other powers, functions or duties conferred on the Chief Executive Officer by the charter, and to perform other functions lawfully directed by EHA;
	m) such other functions as may be specified in the terms and conditions of appointment of the Chief Executive Officer.

	4.4. Acting Chief Executive Officer
	a) Where an absence of the Chief Executive Officer is foreseen, the Chief Executive Officer may appoint a suitable person to act as Chief Executive Officer.
	b) If the Chief Executive Officer does not make or is incapable of making an appointment under clause a), a suitable person will be appointed by EHA.


	5. STAFF OF EHA
	a) EHA may employ any staff required for the fulfilment of its functions.
	b) The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for appointing, managing, suspending and dismissing the other employees of EHA (on behalf of EHA).
	c) The Chief Executive Officer must ensure that an appointment under this clause is consistent with strategic policies and budgets approved by EHA.
	d) The Chief Executive Officer must, in acting under this clause comply with any relevant Act, award or industrial agreement.
	e) Suspension of an employee by the Chief Executive Officer does not affect a right to remuneration in respect of the period of suspension.

	6. REGIONAL PUBLIC HEALTH PLAN
	6.1. Implementation of a Regional Public Health Plan
	EHA is responsible for undertaking any strategy and for attaining any priority or goal which the Regional Public Health Plan specifies as EHA's responsibility.

	6.2. Review
	EHA will, in conjunction with the Constituent Councils, review the Regional Public Health Plan every five years or at shorter time intervals as directed by the Constituent Councils.

	6.3. Reporting
	a) EHA will on a biennial basis, on behalf of the Constituent Councils, coordinate the preparation of a draft report that contains a comprehensive assessment of the extent to which, during the reporting period, EHA and the Constituent Councils have su...
	b) EHA will comply with guidelines issued by the Chief Public Health Officer in respect of the preparation of reports on regional public health plans.
	c) EHA will submit the draft report to the Chief Public Health Officer on behalf of the constituent councils as required.


	7. FUNDING AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
	7.1. Financial management
	a) EHA shall keep proper books of account.  Books of account must be available for inspection by any Board Member or authorised representative of any Constituent Council at any reasonable time on request.
	b) EHA must meet the obligations set out in the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 (SA).
	c) The Chief Executive Officer must act prudently in the handling of all financial transactions for EHA and must provide financial reports to the Board at its meetings and if requested, the Constituent Councils.

	7.2. Bank account
	a) EHA must establish and maintain a bank account with such banking facilities and at a bank to be determined by the Board.
	b) All cheques must be signed by two persons authorised by resolution of the Board.
	c) Any payments made by electronic funds transfer must be made in accordance with procedures approved by the external auditor.

	7.3. Budget
	a) EHA must prepare a proposed budget for each financial year in accordance with clause 25, Schedule 2 to the Act.
	b) The proposed budget must be referred to the Board at its April meeting and to the Chief Executive Officers of the Constituent Councils by 30 April each year.
	c) A Constituent Council may comment in writing to EHA on the proposed budget by 31 May each year.
	d) EHA must, after 31 May but before the end of June in each financial year, finalise and adopt an annual budget for the ensuing financial year in accordance with clause 25, Schedule 2 to the Act.

	7.4. Funding contributions
	a) Constituent Councils shall be liable to contribute monies to EHA each financial year for its proper operation.
	b) The contribution to be paid by a Constituent Council for any financial year shall be determined by calculating the Constituent Council’s proportion of EHA’s overall activities in accordance with the Funding Contribution Calculation Formula (see Sch...
	c) Constituent Council contributions shall be paid in two equal instalments due respectively on 1 July and 1 January each year.
	d) The method of determining contributions can be changed with the written approval of not less than two thirds of the Constituent Councils.  Where the method for calculating contributions is changed, the revised methodology will apply from the date d...
	e) If a council becomes a new Constituent Council after the first day of July in any financial year, the contribution payable by that council for that year will be calculated on the basis of the number of whole months (or part thereof) remaining in th...

	7.5. Financial reporting
	a) The Board shall present a balance sheet and the audited financial statements for the immediately previous financial year to the Constituent Councils by 31 August each year.
	b) The financial year for EHA is 1 July of a year to 30 June in the subsequent year.

	7.6. Audit
	a) The Board shall appoint an external auditor in accordance with the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 (SA).
	b) The audit of financial statements of EHA, together with the accompanying report from the external auditor, shall be submitted to the Chief Executive Officer and the Board.
	c) The books of account and financial statements shall be audited at least once per year.
	d) EHA will maintain an audit committee as required by, and to fulfil the functions set out in, clause 30, Schedule 2 to the Act.

	7.7. Liability
	The liabilities incurred and assumed by EHA are guaranteed by all Constituent Councils in the proportions specified in the Funding Contribution Calculation Formula.

	7.8. Insolvency
	In the event of EHA becoming insolvent, the Constituent Councils will be responsible for all liabilities of EHA in proportion to the percentage contribution calculated for each Constituent Council for the financial year prior to the year of the insolv...

	7.9. Insurance and superannuation requirements
	a) EHA shall register with the LGA Mutual Liability Scheme and comply with the rules of that scheme.
	b) EHA shall register with the LGA Asset Mutual Fund or otherwise advise the Local Government Risk Services of its insurance requirements relating to local government special risks in respect of buildings, structures, vehicles and equipment under the ...
	c) As an employer, EHA shall register with Statewide Super and the LGA Workers Compensation Scheme and comply with the rules of those schemes.


	8. BUSINESS PLAN
	8.1. Contents of the Business Plan
	a) EHA must each year develop in accordance with this clause a business plan which supports and informs its annual budget.
	b) In addition to the requirements for the Business Plan set out in clause 24(6) of Schedule 2 to the Act, the Business Plan will include:
	(a) a description of how EHA's functions relate to the delivery of the Regional Public Health Plan and the Business Plan;
	(b) financial estimates of revenue and expenditure necessary for the delivery of the Regional Public Health Plan;
	(c) performance targets which EHA is to pursue in respect of the Regional Public Health Plan.

	c) A draft of the Business Plan will be provided to the Constituent Councils for the endorsement of the majority of those councils.
	d) The Board must provide a copy of the adopted annual Business Plan and budget to the Chief Executive Officers of each Constituent Council within five business days of its adoption.

	8.2. Review and assessment against the Business Plan
	a) The Board must:
	(a) compare the achievement of the Business Plan against performance targets for EHA at least once every financial year;
	(b) in consultation with the Constituent Councils review the contents of the Business Plan on an annual basis; and
	(c) consult with the Constituent Councils prior to amending the Business Plan.

	b) EHA must submit to the Constituent Councils, by 30 September each year in respect of the immediately preceding financial year, an annual report on the work and operations of EHA detailing achievement of the aims and objectives of its Business Plan ...


	9. MEMBERSHIP
	9.1. New Members
	9.2. Withdrawal of a member
	a) Subject to any legislative requirements, including but not limited to ministerial approval, a Constituent Council may resign from EHA at any time by giving a minimum 24 months notice to take effect from 30 June in the financial year after which the...
	b) Valid notice for the purposes of clause a) is notice in writing given to the Chief Executive Officer and each of the Constituent Councils.
	c) The withdrawal of any Constituent Council does not extinguish the liability of that Constituent Council to contribute to any loss or liability incurred by EHA at any time before or after such withdrawal in respect of any act or omission by EHA prio...
	d) Payment of monies outstanding under the charter, by or to the withdrawing Constituent Council must be fully paid by 30 June of the financial year following 30 June of the year in which the withdrawal occurs unless there is a unanimous agreement as ...
	e) The withdrawing Constituent Council is to reimburse EHA for any operating costs incurred as a direct result of the withdrawal.
	f) The withdrawing Constituent Council is not automatically entitled  to any retained equity upon exit, and any financial distribution shall be unanimously agreed by the remaining Constituent Councils.


	10. DISPUTE RESOLUTION
	a) The procedure in this clause must be applied to any dispute that arises between EHA and a Constituent Council concerning the affairs of EHA, or between the Constituent Councils concerning the affairs of EHA, including a dispute as to the meaning or...
	b) EHA and a Constituent Council must continue to observe the charter and perform its respective functions despite a dispute.
	c) This clause does not prejudice the right of a party:
	(a) to require the continuing observance and performance of the charter by all parties: or

	(b) to institute proceedings to enforce payment due under the charter or to seek injunctive relief to prevent immediate and irreparable harm.
	d) Subject to clause c), pending completion of the procedure set out in clauses e) to i), a dispute must not be the subject of legal proceedings between any of the parties in dispute.  If legal proceedings are initiated or continued in breach of this ...
	e) Step 1:  Notice of dispute:  A party to the dispute must promptly notify each other party to the dispute of:
	(a) the nature of the dispute, giving reasonable details;
	(b) what action (if any) the party giving notice seeks to resolve the dispute.
	A failure to give notice under this clause e) does not entitle any other party to damages.

	f) Step 2:  Request for a meeting of the parties:  A party providing notice of a dispute under clause e) may at the same or a later time notify each other party to the dispute that the notifying party requires a meeting within 14 business days.
	g) Step 3:  Meeting of senior managers:  Where a meeting is requested under clause f), a senior manager of each party must attend a meeting with the Board in good faith to attempt to resolve the dispute.
	h) Step 4:  Meeting of chief executive officers:  Where a meeting of senior managers held under clause g) fails to resolve the dispute, the chief executive officers of EHA and each of the Constituent Councils must attend a meeting in good faith to att...
	i) Step 5: Mediation:  If the meeting held under clause h) fails to resolve the dispute, then the dispute may be referred to mediation by any party to the dispute.
	j) Where a dispute is referred to mediation under clause i):
	(a) the mediator must be a person agreed by the parties in dispute or, if they cannot agree within 14 days, a mediator nominated by the President of the South Australian Bar Association (or equivalent office of any successor organisation);
	(b) the role of the mediator is to assist in negotiating a resolution of a dispute;
	(c) a mediator may not make a decision binding on a party unless the parties agree to be so bound either at the time the mediator is appointed or subsequently;
	(d) the mediation will occur at EHA's principal office or any other convenient location agreed by both parties;
	(e) a party is not required to spend more than the equivalent of one business day in mediation of a dispute;
	(f) each party to a dispute will cooperate in arranging and expediting the mediation, including by providing information in the possession or control of the party reasonably sought by the mediator in relation to the dispute;
	(g) each party will send a senior manager authorised to resolve the dispute to the mediation;
	(h) the mediator may exclude lawyers acting for the parties in dispute;
	(i) the mediator may retain persons to provide expert assistance to the mediator;
	(j) a party in dispute may withdraw from mediation if in the reasonable opinion of that party, the mediator is not acting in confidence or with good faith, or is acting for a purpose other than resolving the dispute;
	(k) unless otherwise agreed in writing:
	(i) everything that occurs before the mediator is in confidence and in closed session;
	(ii) discussions (including admissions and concessions) are without prejudice and may not be called into evidence in any subsequent legal proceedings by a party;
	(iii) documents brought into existence specifically for the purpose of the mediation may not be admitted in evidence in any subsequent legal proceedings by a party; and
	(iv) the parties in dispute must report back to the mediator within 14 days on actions taken based on the outcomes of the mediation; and

	(l) each party to the dispute must bear its own costs in respect of the mediation, plus an equal share of the costs and expenses of the mediator.


	11. WINDING UP
	a) EHA may be wound up by the Minister acting upon a unanimous resolution of the Constituent Councils or by the Minister in accordance with clause 33(1)(b), Schedule 2 of the Act.
	b) In the event of EHA being wound up, any surplus assets after payment of all expenses shall be returned to the Constituent Councils in the proportions specified in the Funding Contribution Calculation Formula prior to the passing of the resolution t...
	c) If there are insufficient funds to pay all expenses due by EHA on winding up, a levy shall be imposed on all Constituent Councils in the proportion determined under the Funding Contribution Calculation Formula prior to the passing of the resolution...

	12. MISCELLANEOUS
	12.1. Action by the Constituent Councils
	12.2. Direction by the Constituent Councils
	12.3. Alteration and review of charter
	a) The charter will be reviewed by the Constituent Councils acting jointly at least once in every four years.
	b) The charter can only be amended by unanimous resolution of the Constituent Councils.
	c) Notice of a proposed alteration to the charter must be given by the Chief Executive Officer to all Constituent Councils at least four weeks prior to the Council meeting at which the alteration is proposed.
	d) The Chief Executive Officer must ensure that a copy of the charter, as amended, is published on a website (or websites) determined by the Chief Executive Officers of the Constituent Councils, a notice of the fact of the amendment and a website addr...

	12.4. Access to information
	12.5. Circumstances not provided for
	a) If any circumstances arise about which the charter is silent or which are, incapable of taking effect or being implemented the Board or the Chief Executive Officer may decide the action to be taken to ensure achievement of the objects of EHA and it...
	b) Where the Chief Executive Officer acts in accordance with clause a) he or she shall report that decision at the next Board meeting.

	12.6. Civil liability Protection for Subsidiary employees
	a) No civil liability attaches to an employee of EHA for an honest act or omission in the exercise performance or discharge or purported exercise performance or discharge of powers functions and duties of the employee under the Local Government Act 19...
	b) EHA must indemnify its employees against any civil liability incurred by the employee of for an honest act or omission in the exercise, performance or discharge, or purported exercise, performance or discharge, of powers, functions or duties under ...

	12.7      Register of Salaries
	d) The Chief Executive Officer of EHA must provide the Register of Salaries to the Chief Executive Officers of the Constituent Councils within 60 days of 30 June in each year.

	12.8     Register of Gifts

	13. INTERPRETATION
	13.1. Glossary
	13.2. Interpreting the charter
	a) The charter will come into effect on the date it is published in the South Australian Government Gazette.
	b) The charter supersedes previous charters of the Eastern Health Authority.
	c) The charter must be read in conjunction with Schedule 2 to the Act.
	d) EHA shall conduct its affairs in accordance with Schedule 2 to the Act except as modified by the charter as permitted by Schedule 2 to the Act.
	e) Despite any other provision in the charter:
	(a) if the Act prohibits a thing being done, the thing may not be done;
	(b) if the Act requires a thing to be done, that thing must be done; and
	(c) if a provision of the charter is or becomes inconsistent with the Act, that provision must be read down or failing that severed from the charter to the extent of the inconsistency.
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